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Directors’ Report
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013

In accordance with a resolution of the Voting Directors
(the Directors) of Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited
(the Company or MFHL), the Directors submit herewith the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the Consolidated Entity) and report as follows:
Directors
At the date of this report, the Directors of MFHL are:
– M. Ferrier
– C.T. Lynam
– R.N. Upfold
Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is to act as the
holding company of the Non-Banking Group within the
Macquarie Group. The Non-Banking Group comprises
most of the activities of the Macquarie Capital Group and
certain Macquarie Securities Group, Macquarie Funds
Group, Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities Group
and Corporate activities.
Result
The consolidated profit after income tax attributable to
ordinary equity holders, under Australian Accounting
Standards, for the financial year ended 31 March 2013
was $231 million (2012: $261 million).
Dividends and distributions
There were no dividends or distributions paid or provided
for during the financial year.
State of Affairs
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant
changes in the state of affairs of the Company that
occurred during the financial year under review not
otherwise disclosed in this report.
Review of operations
The profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Consolidated Entity for the year ended 31 March 2013
was $231 million, a decrease of 11 per cent from
$261 million in the previous year.
Net operating income for the year ended 31 March 2013
was $2,030 million, a decrease of 13 per cent on prior
year.
Total operating expenses for the year ended
31 March 2013 were $1,602 million, a decrease of
19 per cent on the prior year.
Events subsequent to balance date
Subsequent to the financial year end, the Directors have
approved a dividend payment of $400 million (2012: $nil),
subject to the receipt of a dividend payment of
$700 million from a wholly owned subsidiary. The dividend
is payable on 3 June 2013.

Likely developments, business strategies and
prospects
Disclosure of information relating to the future
developments in the operations, business strategies and
prospects for future financial years of the Consolidated
Entity have not been included in the report because the
Directors believe it may result in unreasonable prejudice to
the Consolidated Entity.
Directors’ indemnification
Under the Company’s Constitution, the Company
indemnifies all past and present Directors and Secretaries
of the Company, including at this time the Directors
named in this report and the Secretary or Secretaries,
against every liability incurred by them in, and all legal
costs incurred in defending or resisting (or otherwise in
connection with) proceedings in which they become
involved because of, their respective capacities unless:
– the liability is owed to the Company or to a related body
corporate;
– the liability did not arise out of the conduct of good
faith;
– the liability is for a pecuniary penalty order or a
compensation order under the Corporations Act 2001
(Cth ) (the Act);
– in the case of legal costs, the costs are incurred in
defending or resisting a liability excluded above, criminal
proceedings in which the person is found guilty or
proceedings brought by the Australian Securities &
Investments Commission or a liquidator where grounds
for a court order are established (but excluding costs
relating to investigations before commencement of
proceedings for the court order), or the costs are
incurred in relation to proceedings for relief to the
person under the Act in which the court denies relief;
– the Company is forbidden by statute to indemnify the
person against the liability or legal costs, or
– an indemnity by the Company of the person against the
liability or legal costs would, if given, be made void by
statute.
Each of the Directors and Secretaries having the benefit of
the indemnity provisions under the Company's
Constitution, agreed by deed poll that those indemnities
would not apply to the extent to which an indemnity for
any liability or legal costs is forbidden by Australian statute
or would, if given, be made void by Australian statute.
These limitations on the indemnities have subsequently
been adopted into the indemnity provisions of the
Company’s Constitution with the effect that these
limitations now apply directly to the Directors and
Secretaries.
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Environmental regulations
The Consolidated Entity has policies and procedures in
place that are designed to ensure that, where operations
are subject to any particular and significant environmental
regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State
or Territory, those obligations are identified and
appropriately addressed.
The Directors have determined that there has not been
any material breach of those obligations during the
financial year.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration, as
required under section 307C of the Act, is set out on
page 3 of this report.
Rounding
In accordance with Australian Securities & Investments
Commission Class Order 98/100 (as amended), amounts
in the full Directors’ Report and Financial Report have
been rounded off to the nearest million dollars unless
otherwise indicated.
Company disclosures
All amounts relate to the Consolidated Entity unless
otherwise stated.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of
the Directors.

Robert Upfold
Director
Sydney
30 May 2013
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Directors’ Report
Auditor’s Independent Declaration

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
As lead auditor for the audit of Macquarie Financial
Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 March 2013,
I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief,
there have been:
a) no contraventions of the auditor independence
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) in
relation to the audit; and
b) no contraventions of any applicable code of
professional conduct in relation to the audit.
This declaration is in respect of Macquarie Financial
Holdings Limited and the entities it controlled during the
financial year.

DH Armstrong
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Sydney
30 May 2013

Liability is limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Notes to the financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2013
$m

2012
$m

2

377
(487)
(110)

378
(557)
(179)

Fee and commission income
Net trading income
Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures accounted for using
the equity method
Other operating income and charges
Net operating income

2
2

1,832
27

1,936
103

2
2

54
227
2,030

65
416
2,341

Employment expenses
Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses
Occupancy expenses
Non-salary technology expenses
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

2
2
2
2
2

(1,119)
(78)
(165)
(89)
(151)
(1,602)

(1,334)
(113)
(212)
(109)
(208)
(1,976)

428
(199)

365
(102)

Profit after income tax
Loss/(profit) attributable to non-controlling interests

229
2

263
(2)

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of Macquarie Financial
Holdings Limited

231

261

Notes
Consolidated incom e st atement

Interest and similar income
Interest expense and similar charges
Net interest expense

Operating profit before income tax
Income tax expense

3

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013

2013
$m

2012
$m

229

263

23
23

190
3

(65)
6

23

21

(17)

(93)
121
350

69
(7)
256

353
(3)
350

257
(1)
256

Notes
Consolidated stat em ent of compr ehensi ve incom e

Profit after income tax
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Available for sale investments, net of tax
Cash flow hedges, net of tax
Share of other comprehensive income/(expense) of associates and
joint ventures, net of tax
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of
hedge and tax
Total other comprehensive income/(expense)
Total comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(expense) attributable to:
Ordinary equity holders of Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.

6

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2013

2013
$m

2012
$m

2,590
824
110
2,913
4,289
1,155
254
4,573
153

3,157
633
126
2,024
6,715
1,122
630
2,131
230

12
13
14

1,526
405
554
19,346

1,959
464
897
20,088

15

113
128
97
4,928
524
806
6,664
1,779
52
108
15,199

108
125
104
6,890
374
1,081
7,003
39
64
109
15,897

21

616
402
1,018
16,217
3,129

617
405
1,022
16,919
3,169

22
23
23

1,317
(11)
1,754

1,709
(133)
1,523

23

3,060
69
3,129

3,099
70
3,169

Notes
Consolidated stat em ent of financial position

Assets
Receivables from financial institutions
Trading portfolio assets
Derivative assets
Investment securities available for sale
Other assets
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Due from related body corporate entities
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Trading portfolio liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Deposits
Other liabilities
Payables to financial institutions
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Due to related body corporate entities
Debt issued at amortised cost
Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities excluding loan capital
Loan capital
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities
Subordinated debt at amortised cost
Total loan capital
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total capital and reserves attributable to ordinary equity holders of
Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

4
5
6
7
8
10
25
11

16
17
18
25
19
20
14

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013
Retained
earnings
$m

Contributed
equity Reserves
$m
$m
Notes
Balance at 1 April 2011
Profit after income tax
Other comprehensive expense, net of
tax
Total comprehensive (expense)/ income
Transactions with equity holders in their
capacity as equity holders:
Contributions of ordinary equity, net of
transaction costs
Reduction of capital
Non-controlling interests:
Contributions of equity, net of
transaction cost
Profit attributable to
non-controlling interests
Other equity movements:
Contributions from ultimate parent
entity in relation to share-based
payments
Reserves arising from group
restructure of combining entities
under common control
Transfer from reserves arising from
group restructure of combining
entities under common control to
contributed equity
Balance at 31 March 2012
Profit after income tax
Other comprehensive
income/(expense), net of tax
Total comprehensive income/(expense)
Transactions with equity holders in their
capacity as equity holders:
Contributions of ordinary equity, net of
transaction costs
Reduction of capital
Non-controlling interests:
Loss attributable to
non-controlling interests
Other equity movements:
Return of capital to ultimate parent
entity in relation to share-based
payments
Balance at 31 March 2013

Noncontrolling
Total interests
$m
$m

Total
equity
$m

16,518
–

(14,155)
–

1,262
261

3,625
261

65
2

3,690
263

–
–

(4)
(4)

–
261

(4)
257

(3)
(1)

(7)
256

7
(800)

–
–

–
–

7
(800)

–
–

7
(800)

–

–

–

–

8

8

–

–

–

–

(2)

(2)

22

7

–

–

7

–

7

23

–

3

–

3

–

3

22

(14,023)
(14,809)
1,709
–

14,023
14,026
(133)
–

–
–
1,523
231

–
(783)
3,099
231

–
6
70
(2)

–
(777)
3,169
229

–
–

122
122

–
231

122
353

(1)
(3)

121
350

20
(400)

–
–

–
–

20
(400)

–
–

20
(400)

–

–

–

–

2

2

(12)
(392)
1,317

–
–
(11)

–
–
1,754

(12)
(392)
3,060

–
2
69

(12)
(390)
3,129

22
22

22
22

22

Consolidated stat em ent of chang es in equity

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Notes

2013
$m

2012
$m

373
(486)

408

Consolidated stat em ent of cash flows

Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
Interest received
Interest and other costs of finance paid
Dividends and distributions received
Fees and other non-interest income received
Fees and commissions paid
Net receipts for trading portfolio assets and other financial
assets/liabilities
Payments to suppliers
Employment expenses paid
Net loan assets granted
Recovery of loans previously written off
Net increase in amounts due to other financial institutions, deposits and
other borrowings
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

446

1,872

2,030

(93)

(128)

804

528

(371)

(793)
(1,478)

(1,166)

Income tax paid

24

(542)

182

(80)

(37)

(1,496)

(1,172)

–

3

1,510

157

1,049

(578)

Cash flows used in investing activities
Net payments for investment securities available for sale

(231)

(299)

Proceeds from the disposal of associates and subsidiaries, net of cash
deconsolidated

590

627

Payments for the acquisition of associates and subsidiaries, net of cash
acquired

(357)

(473)

Payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, lease
assets and intangible assets

(13)

(80)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(11)

(225)

Cash flows used in financing activities
Contributions from non-controlling interests

1

1

Return of capital to parent

(400)

(800)

Net cash flows used in financing activities

(399)

(799)

639

(1,602)

3,823

5,425

4,462

3,823

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

24

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Notes to the financi al st atem ents

Note 1
1

Summary of significant accounting policies
(i) Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of this financial report and that of the previous
financial year are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the financial years presented,
unless otherwise stated.
This financial report is a general purpose financial report
which has been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (which includes Australian
Interpretations by virtue of AASB 1048 Interpretation
and Application of Standards) and the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).
Compliance with IFRS as issued by the IASB
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards
ensures that the financial report complies with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). Consequently, this financial report has also been
prepared in accordance with and complies with IFRS as
issued by the IASB.
Historical cost convention
This financial report has been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of investment securities available for sale and certain other
assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at
fair value.
Critical accounting estimates and significant
judgements
The preparation of the financial report in conformity with
Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise judgement in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The notes to the financial
statements set out areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions are
significant to the Company and its subsidiaries
(Consolidated Entity) and the consolidated financial report
such as:
– fair value of financial assets and liabilities (note 32);
– impairment of loan assets held at amortised cost,
investment securities available for sale and interests in
associates and joint ventures (notes 1(xi), 1(xiii), 9 and
31.1);
– acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures (notes 1(ii),12 and 35);
– distinguishing between whether assets or a business is
acquired (note 1(iii));
– determination of whether dividends and distributions
received are recognised as income or a return of capital
(note 1(v))
– recoverability of deferred tax assets and measurement
of current and deferred tax liabilities (notes 1(vi), 3 and
14); and
– the impairment of goodwill and other identifiable
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (notes 1(xv)
and 13).
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including reasonable expectations of future events.
Management believes the estimates used in preparing the
financial report are reasonable. Actual results in the future
may differ from those reported and therefore it is
reasonably possible, on the basis of existing knowledge,
that outcomes within the next financial year that are
different from our assumptions and estimates could
require an adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets and liabilities reported.
New Accounting Standards and amendments to
Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are
effective in the current financial year
AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting

Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets

became effective in the current financial year. AASB 2010-6
adds disclosures about transfers of financial assets that do
not achieve accounting derecognition, and those that do
achieve derecognition but there is some form of continuing
involvement. Comparative information is not required in the
first year. Disclosures of transferred financial assets are
presented in note 33.
The application of AASB 2010-6 in the current financial
year has not affected any of the amounts recognised in
the financial statements.

New Accounting Standards and amendments to
Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are not
yet effective

AASB 127 (August 2011) is renamed Separate Financial
Statements and now deals solely with separate financial

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11
Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements
(August 2011), AASB 128 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures (August 2011) and AASB 2012-10

AASB 128 (August 2011) clarifies that an entity continues
to apply the equity method for its retained interest where
on a change of ownership a joint venture becomes an
associate, and vice versa. The amendments also clarify
that where a portion of an associate or joint venture is to
be sold, that part to be sold is accounted for under AASB
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations, and the equity method is applied to the
retained portion until the portion held for sale is sold.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Transition Guidance and Other Amendments.

A suite of new and amended Standards address the
accounting for joint arrangements, consolidated financial
statements and associated disclosures.
AASB 10 replaces the guidance on control and
consolidation in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements and Interpretation 112 Consolidation
– Special Purpose Entities. The core principle that a
consolidated entity presents a parent and its subsidiaries
as if they are a single economic entity remains unchanged,
as do the mechanics of consolidation. The Standard
introduces a single definition of control that applies to all
entities. It focuses on the need to have power, rights or
exposure to variable returns and ability to use the power
to affect the returns. Power is the current ability to direct
the activities that significantly influence returns. Returns
must vary and can be positive, negative or both. Further
variable returns are determined to be created by certain
entities and absorbed by others, this is known as the
creator absorber guidance. There is also new guidance on
participating and protective rights, de-facto control and on
agent vs. principal relationships. AASB 2012-10 provides
relief from restating prior year comparatives when AASB
10 is applied for the first time. Relief is available when the
accounting outcome under the current guidance is the
same as applying AASB 10 as at the date of initial
application. In all other situations, comparatives are to be
restated retrospectively using AASB 10.
AASB 11 introduces a principles-based approach to
accounting for joint arrangements. The focus is no longer
on the legal structure, but rather on rights and obligations
being shared by the parties to the joint arrangement.
Based on the assessment of rights and obligations, a joint
arrangement is classified as either a joint operation or joint
venture. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method, and the choice to proportionately consolidate is
no longer permitted. Parties to a joint operation account
for their share of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities
in much the same way as under the previous Standard.
AASB 11 also provides guidance for parties that
participate in joint arrangements but do not share joint
control.
AASB 12 sets out disclosures for interests in entities that
are subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and
unconsolidated structured entities. Whilst the new
Standard will not affect any of the amounts recognised in
the financial statements, it will require additional
disclosures of interests in these entities. AASB 2012-10
provides relief from disclosing comparatives for interests in
unconsolidated structured entities when AASB 12 is
applied for the first time.

statements.

The Standards are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Consolidated
Entity will first apply the Standards in the financial year
beginning 1 April 2013.
Initial application of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 12, AASB
127 (August 2011), AASB 128 (August 2011) and AASB
2012-10 is not expected to result in any material impact.
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
AASB 13 explains how to measure fair value and aims to
enhance fair value disclosures, and is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
The Consolidated Entity will first apply the Standard in the
financial year beginning 1 April 2013. Initial application is
not expected to result in any material impact.
AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities and AASB 2012-3 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities
AASB 2012-2 amends AASB 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures to require disclosure of enforceable master
netting arrangements and their effect, even if assets and
liabilities may not be set off on the statement of financial
position under AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.
AASB 2012-3 amends AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Presentation to clarify that to set off an asset with a
liability:
–

–
–

the right of set-off must be available and legally
enforceable for all counterparties in the normal
course of business, as well as in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy
certain gross settlement mechanisms (such as
through a clearing house) may be equivalent to net
settlement
master netting agreements where the legal right of
offset is only enforceable on the occurrence of a
future event (such as default of the counterparty)
continue to not meet the requirements for netting.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
(i) Basis of preparation continued
AASB 2012-2 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and AASB 2012-3
is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014. The Consolidated Entity will first
apply AASB 2012-2 in the financial year beginning 1 April
2013, and AASB 2012-3 in the financial year beginning 1
April 2014. AASB 2012-2 will not affect any of the
amounts recognised in the financial statements, however it
may increase disclosures of certain netting arrangements.
The Consolidated Entity is continuing to assess the impact
of AASB 2012-3.
AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards to Remove Individual Key Management
Personnel Disclosure Requirements
AASB 2011-4 removes the individual Key Management
Personnel disclosure requirements from AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures, and is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013. The
Consolidated Entity will first apply the amendments in the
financial year beginning 1 April 2014. Whilst the
amendments may reduce the disclosures provided, it will
not affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments and consequential
amendments
AASB 9 includes the classification, measurement,
recognition and derecognition requirements for financial
instruments.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost only if it is
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the
asset give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are
payments solely of principal and interest (on the principal
amount outstanding). All other financial assets are
measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
investments in equity securities that are not part of a
trading activity may be reported directly in other
comprehensive income (OCI), but upon realisation, those
accumulated changes in value are not recycled to the
income statement. Dividends on such investments are
recognised in profit or loss, unless they clearly represent a
recovery of the cost of the investment. Changes in the fair
value of all other financial assets carried at fair value are
reported in the income statement.
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In respect of financial liabilities, the component of change
in fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss due to an entity’s own credit risk are
presented in OCI, unless such presentation creates an
accounting mismatch. If a mismatch is created or
enlarged, all changes in fair value (including the effects of
changes in credit risk) are presented in profit or loss. All
other key requirements for classification and measurement
of financial liabilities have been carried forward
unamended from AASB 139. The recognition and
derecognition requirements in AASB 139 have also been
retained and relocated to AASB 9 unamended.
AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and
Transition Disclosures delays the mandatory effective date
of AASB 9 to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2015. Comparative information need not
be restated however additional transition disclosures will
need to be provided.

The Consolidated Entity will first apply AASB 9 in the
financial year beginning 1 April 2015. Initial assessments
indicate that the following impacts are likely:
–
–
–

financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss (e.g. quoted bonds outside of trading book) will
change to be carried at amortised cost;
financial assets carried at amortised cost (e.g.
beneficial interests) will change to be carried at fair
value through profit or loss; and
financial assets containing embedded derivatives (e.g.
capital protected products) will no longer be
separated, and the entire product will change to be
carried at fair value through profit or loss.

The Consolidated Entity is continuing to assess the full
impact of adopting AASB 9.
Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and
IAS 27)
The IASB issued the amendments in October 2012, which
define an investment entity and provide an exception to
the consolidation requirements in IFRS 10. Investment
entities are required to measure particular subsidiaries at
fair value through profit or loss, rather than consolidate
them. However, where a non-investment entity parent
ultimately controls an investment entity, the parent must
still consolidate the investment entity and all the underlying
subsidiaries, reversing fair value used by the investment
entity. The amendments also set out disclosure
requirements for investment entities.
The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and are not
available for early adoption in Australia because the AASB
has not issued Australian equivalents of the amendments.
Instead, the AASB issued an exposure draft in December
2012 which proposes to require additional disclosures
where an entity does apply the exemption.

(ii) Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries

losses in the consolidated income statement, and the
share of its post-acquisition movements in reserves.

The consolidated financial report comprises the financial
report of the Consolidated Entity. Subsidiaries are all those
entities (including SPEs) over which the Company has the
power to govern (directly or indirectly) decision-making in
relation to financial and operating policies, so as to require
that entity to conform to the Company’s objectives. The
effects of all transactions between entities in the
Consolidated Entity are eliminated in full. Non-controlling
interests (NCI) in the results and equity of subsidiaries,
where the Company owns less than 100 per cent of the
issued capital, are shown separately in the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
financial position, respectively.

The Consolidated Entity determines the dates of obtaining
or losing significant influence or joint control of another
entity based on an assessment of all pertinent facts
and circumstances that affect the ability to significantly
influence or jointly control the financial and operating
policies of that entity. Facts and circumstances that have
the most impact include the contractual arrangements
agreed with the counterparty, the manner in which those
arrangements are expected to operate in practice, and
whether regulatory approval is required to complete. The
acquisition or disposal date does not necessarily occur
when the transaction is closed or finalised under law.

Where control of an entity was obtained during the
financial year, its results are included in the consolidated
income statement from the date on which control
commenced. Where control of an entity ceased during the
financial year, its results are included for that part of the
financial year during which control existed.
The Company and Consolidated Entity determine the
dates of obtaining control (i.e. acquisition date) and losing
control (i.e. disposal date) of another entity based on an
assessment of all pertinent facts and circumstances that
affect the ability to govern the financial and operating
policies of that entity. Facts and circumstances that have
the most impact include the contractual arrangements
agreed with the counterparty, the manner in which those
arrangements are expected to operate in practice and
whether regulatory approval is required to complete.
The acquisition or disposal date does not necessarily
occur when the transaction is closed or finalised under
law.
Subsidiaries held by the Company are carried in its
financial statements at cost less impairment in accordance
with AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements.

Impairment of subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed annually for
indicators of impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the investment’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount (which is
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use).
At each balance date, investments in subsidiaries that
have been impaired are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment.
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method
Associates and joint ventures are entities over which the
Consolidated Entity has significant influence or joint
control, but not control, and are accounted for under the
equity method except those which are classified as held
for sale (see note 1(xii)). The equity method of accounting
is applied in the consolidated financial report and involves
the recognition of the Consolidated Entity’s share of its
associates’ and joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or

Associates and joint ventures held by the Company are
carried in its financial statements at cost in accordance
with AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements.

(iii) Business combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations (excepting business
combinations involving entities or businesses under
common control) which occurred before 1 April 2010.
From 1 April 2010, business combinations are accounted
for using the acquisition method. Cost is measured as the
aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of
assets acquired, equity instruments issued or liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus, for
business combinations occurring before 1 April 2010, any
costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Transaction
costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are
recognised directly in equity, and those arising on
borrowings are capitalised and included in interest
expense using the effective interest method.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured at their fair values on the acquisition date.
The Consolidated Entity can elect, on a transaction-bytransaction basis, to measure NCI relating to ordinary
shares either at fair value or at the NCI’s proportionate
share of the fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities. The excess of the consideration over the
Consolidated Entity’s share of the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
the consideration is less than the Consolidated Entity’s
share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement, but only after a
reassessment of the identification and measurement of the
net assets acquired. For contingent consideration given in
business combinations occurring from 1 April 2010, the
amount is subsequently remeasured to its fair value with
changes recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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(iii) Business combinations continued
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present values as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent
financier under comparable terms and conditions.
Distinguishing between whether assets or a business is
acquired involves judgement. Some of the factors that the
Consolidated Entity uses in identifying a business
combination are:
–
–

–

–

the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s industry and
business model, which affects the nature of an input,
process or output;
whether the acquisition included at least a majority of
the critical inputs (e.g. tangible or intangible assets,
and intellectual property) and a majority of the critical
processes (e.g. strategic processes, skilled and
experienced workforce);
the relative ease of replacing the critical processes
not acquired by either integrating within the
Consolidated Entity’s existing processes or subcontracting them to third parties; and
the presence of goodwill.

Combinations between entities or businesses under
common control
Combinations between entities under common control
are business combinations in which all of the combining
entities or businesses ultimately are controlled by the
same party or parties both before and after the
combination and that control is not transitory. In the
consolidated financial statements of the Company, assets
and liabilities of the acquired entities are measured at the
carrying amounts recognised previously in the seller’s
consolidated financial statements at the date of
the combination. In the separate financial statements of
the Company, assets and liabilities of the acquired
businesses are measured at the carrying amounts
recognised previously in the seller’s financial statements at
the date of the combination. Any difference between the
fair value of the consideration given over the carrying
amounts recognised is recorded directly in equity.
(iv) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of foreign
operations are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the foreign operation
operates (the functional currency). The Company’s and
Consolidated Entity’s financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars (the presentation currency), which is also
the Company’s functional currency.
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Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement,
except when deferred in OCI as a result of meeting cash
flow hedge or net investment hedge accounting
requirements (see note 1(x)).
Translation differences on non-monetary items (such as
equities) held at fair value through profit or loss, are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the income
statement. Translation differences on non-monetary items
classified as available for sale financial assets are included
in the available for sale reserve in equity, unless they form
part of fair value hedge relationships in which case the
translation differences are recognised in the income
statement (see note 1(x)).
Subsidiaries and other entities
The results and financial position of all foreign operations
that have a functional currency other than Australian
dollars are translated into Australian dollars as follows:
–

–
–

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
exchange rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;
income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at actual exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions; and
all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
OCI within a separate component of equity – the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign operations and
of borrowings and other foreign currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to
the foreign currency translation reserve through OCI.
When a foreign operation is disposed of or any borrowings
forming part of the net investment are repaid, such
exchange differences are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

(v) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for each
major revenue stream as follows:
Net interest income
Interest income is brought to account using the effective
interest method. The effective interest method calculates
the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocates
the interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset or liability. Fees and transaction costs
associated with loans are capitalised and included in the
effective interest rate and recognised in the income
statement over the expected life of the instrument.
Interest income on finance leases is brought to account
progressively over the life of the lease consistent with the
outstanding investment balance.
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income and expenses that are
integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or
liability are capitalised and included in the effective interest
rate and recognised in the income statement over the
expected life of the instrument.

–

–
–
–
–

distribution relative to the acquisition of the
investment);
the substance of the payment, including the
existence of non-discretionary evidence, that may
identify its nature. A director declaration of the
nature is given a low weighting in the analysis;
whether other transactions occur with the same
counterparty at the same time as, or in
contemplation of, the payment;
whether the payment is from profits in proportion to
the investors’ particular class of capital;
when a dividend is paid in the form of additional
equity of the investee, whether all investors retain the
same relative ownership interest in the investee;
whether the criteria for derecognising part, or all, of
an investment in a financial asset under AASB139

Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement are met, and in particular if
–

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred; and
the basis for the amendment in May 2008 to the
‘cost method’ description in AASB 127
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements so
as to remove an approach solely relying upon
determining post-acquisition retained earnings.

Other fee and commission income, including fees from
fund management, brokerage, account servicing,
corporate advisory, and underwriting is recognised as the
related services are performed. Where commissions and
fees are subject to clawback or meeting certain
performance hurdles, they are recognised as income at
the point when those conditions can no longer affect the
outcome.
Fees charged for performing a significant act in relation to
funds managed by the Consolidated Entity are recognised
as revenue when that act has been completed.
Net trading income
Net trading income comprises gains and losses related to
trading assets and liabilities and include all realised and
unrealised fair value changes, dividends and foreign
exchange differences.
Dividends and distributions
Dividends and distributions are recognised as income
when the Consolidated Entity becomes entitled to the
dividend or distribution. Dividends from subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures are recognised in the income
statement when the Company’s right to receive the
dividend is established.
When accounting for a dividend or distribution, judgement
is required about whether it is recognised as income or a
return of capital. The range of factors that are considered
include:
–
–

whether the payment follows a legal process to
reduce either the number of outstanding shares or
the amount of share capital;
whether evidence exists clearly demonstrating that
the distribution is a return of capital originally
invested by the investor (e.g. the timing of a

15

Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

2013 Annual Report

macquarie.com.au

Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013

Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
(vi) Income tax
The income tax expense for the financial year is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted
for changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities and
unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised when temporary
differences arise between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their respective carrying amounts which give
rise to a future tax benefit, or when a benefit arises due to
unused tax losses. In both cases, deferred tax assets are
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences or tax losses. Deferred tax liabilities are
recognised when such temporary differences will give rise
to taxable amounts that are payable in future periods.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised at the tax
rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or
the liabilities are settled under currently enacted tax law.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
and an intention to either settle on a net basis, or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current
and deferred taxes attributable to amounts recognised
directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.
The Company and Consolidated Entity exercise
judgement in determining whether deferred tax assets,
particularly in relation to tax losses, are probable of
recovery. Factors considered include the ability to offset
tax losses within the tax consolidated group in Australia or
groups of entities in overseas jurisdictions, the nature of
the tax loss, the length of time that tax losses are eligible
for carry forward to offset against future taxable profits
and whether future taxable profits are expected to be
sufficient to allow recovery of deferred tax assets.
The Consolidated Entity undertakes transactions in the
ordinary course of business where the income tax
treatment requires the exercise of judgement. The
Consolidated Entity estimates its tax liability based on its
understanding of the tax law.
Tax consolidation
The Consolidated Entity’s Australian tax liabilities are
determined according to tax consolidation legislation. All
eligible Australian resident wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Macquarie Group comprise a tax consolidated group with
Macquarie Group Limited (MGL) as the head entity. As a
consequence, the Company and the relevant subsidiaries
are not liable to make income tax payments and do not
recognise any current tax balances or any deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses. Under the terms
and conditions of a tax funding agreement, MGL charges
each subsidiary for all current tax liabilities incurred in
respect of their activities and reimburses each subsidiary
for any tax assets arising from unused tax losses.
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Should MGL be in default of its tax payment obligations,
or a default is probable, the current tax balances of the
subsidiaries will be determined in accordance with the
terms and conditions of a tax sharing agreement between
MGL and entities in the tax consolidated group.
(vii) Cash collateral on securities borrowed/lent and
reverse repurchase/repurchase agreements
As part of its trading activities, the Consolidated Entity
borrows and lends securities on a collateralised basis. The
securities subject to the borrowing or lending are not
derecognised from the statements of financial position of
the relevant parties, as the risks and rewards of ownership
remain with the initial holder. Where cash is provided as
collateral, the cash paid to third parties on securities
borrowed is recorded as a receivable, while cash received
from third parties on securities lent is recorded as a
borrowing.
Reverse repurchase transactions, where the Consolidated
Entity purchases securities under an agreement to resell,
and repurchase transactions, where the Consolidated
Entity sells securities under an agreement to repurchase,
are also conducted on a collateralised basis. The
securities subject to the reverse repurchase and
repurchase agreements are not derecognised from the
statements of financial position of the relevant parties, as
the risks and rewards of ownership remain with the initial
holder. Where cash is provided as collateral, the cash paid
to third parties on the reverse repurchase agreement is
recorded as a receivable, while cash received from third
parties on the repurchase agreement is recorded as a
borrowing.
Cash provided as collateral on securities borrowed or on
the reverse repurchase agreement is included in
receivables from financial institution or other assets based
on the counterparty, while cash received from third parties
on securities lent or repurchase agreement is included in
payables to financial institutions or other liabilities based
on the counterparty.
The Consolidated Entity continually reviews the fair values
of the securities on which the above transactions are
based and, where appropriate, requests or provides
additional collateral to support the transactions, in
accordance with the underlying agreements.
(viii) Trading portfolio assets and liabilities
Trading portfolio assets (long positions) comprise debt
and equity securities, bank bills, treasury notes, bullion
and commodities purchased with the intent of being
actively traded. Trading portfolio liabilities (short positions)
comprise obligations to deliver assets across the same
trading categories, which the Consolidated Entity
has short-sold and are actively traded.
Assets and liabilities included in the trading portfolio are
carried at fair value (see note 32). Realised gains and
losses, and unrealised gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of the trading portfolio are
recognised as net trading income in the income statement
in the period in which they arise. Dividend income or
expense on the trading portfolio is recognised in the
income statement as net trading income.

The Consolidated Entity uses trade date accounting when
recording regular way purchases and sales of financial assets.
At the date the transaction is entered into (trade date), the
Consolidated Entity recognises the resulting financial asset or
liability and any subsequent unrealised profits or losses arising
from revaluing that contract to fair value in the income
statement. When the Consolidated Entity becomes party to a
sale contract of a financial asset, it derecognises the asset
and recognises a trade receivable from trade date until
settlement date.
(ix) Derivative instruments
Derivative instruments entered into by the Consolidated
Entity include futures, forwards and forward rate
agreements, swaps and options in the interest rate,
foreign exchange, commodity and equity markets. These
derivative instruments are principally used for the risk
management of existing financial assets and financial
liabilities.
All derivatives, including those used for statement of
financial position hedging purposes, are recognised on the
statement of financial position and are disclosed as an
asset where they have a positive fair value at balance date
or as a liability where the fair value at balance date is
negative.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently
re-measured to their fair value. Fair values are obtained
from quoted market prices in active markets including
recent market transactions, and valuation techniques
including discounted cash flow models and option pricing
models, as appropriate. Movements in the fair values
of derivatives are recognised in the income statement in
net trading income, unless the derivative meets the
requirements for hedge accounting.
The best evidence of a derivative’s fair value at initial
recognition is its transaction price, unless its fair value is
evidenced by comparison with other observable current
market transactions in the same instrument, or based on a
valuation technique for which variables include only data
from observable markets. Where such alternative evidence
exists, the Consolidated Entity recognises profits or losses
immediately when the derivative is recognised.

flow hedging reserve and subsequently released to the
income statement when the hedged item affects the income
statement. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
of the hedge is recognised immediately in the income
statement.
Fair value hedges
For a derivative or financial instrument designated as hedging
the change in fair value of a recognised asset or liability (or an
unrecognised firm commitment), the gain or loss on the
derivative or financial instrument is recognised in the income
statement immediately, together with the loss or gain on the
hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk.
Net investment hedges
For a derivative or borrowing designated as hedging a net
investment in a foreign operation, the gain or loss on
revaluing the derivative or borrowing associated with the
effective portion of the hedge is recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve and subsequently released to
the income statement when the foreign operation is
disposed of. The ineffective portion is recognised in the
income statement immediately.
The fair values of various financial instruments used for
hedging purposes are disclosed in note 30. Movements in
the cash flow hedging reserve in equity are shown in
note 23.

(x) Hedge accounting
The Consolidated Entity designates certain derivatives or
financial instruments as hedging instruments in qualifying
hedge relationships. On initial designation of the hedge,
the Consolidated Entity documents the hedge relationship
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk management objectives and strategies. The
Consolidated Entity also documents its assessment, both
at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether
hedging relationships have been and will continue to be
highly effective. Derivatives or financial instruments can be
designated in one of three types of hedge relationships.
Cash flow hedges
For a derivative or financial instrument designated as hedging
the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability (or a highly
probable forecast transaction), the gain or loss on the
derivative or financial instrument associated with the effective
portion of the hedge is initially recognised in OCI in the cash
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(xi) Investments and other financial assets
With the exception of trading portfolio assets and
derivatives, which are classified separately in the
statement of financial position, the remaining investments
in financial assets are classified into the following
categories: loans and receivables, other financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and investment securities
available for sale. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial asset was acquired, which
is determined at initial recognition and, except for other
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, is reevaluated at each balance date.
Loans and receivables
This category includes loan assets held at amortised cost
and amounts due from subsidiaries, which are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Other financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
This category includes only those financial assets which
have been designated by management as held at fair
value through profit or loss on initial recognition.
The policy of management is to designate a financial asset
as such if: the asset contains embedded derivatives which
must otherwise be separated and carried at fair value; it is
part of a group of financial assets managed and evaluated
on a fair value basis; or doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise. Interest income on debt securities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement in interest income
using the effective interest method as disclosed
in note 1(v).
Investment securities available for sale
Investment securities available for sale comprise securities
that are not actively traded and are intended to be held for
an indefinite period. Such securities are available for sale
and may be sold should the need arise, including
purposes of liquidity, or due to the impacts of changes in
interest rates, foreign exchange rates or equity prices.
Investment securities available for sale are initially carried
at fair value plus transaction costs. Gains and losses
arising from subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised directly in the available for sale reserve in
equity until the asset is derecognised or impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement. Fair values of quoted investments in
active markets are based on current bid prices.
If the relevant market is not considered active (or the
securities are unlisted), fair value is established by
valuation techniques, including recent arm’s length
transactions, discounted cash flow analysis and other
valuation techniques commonly used by market
participants.
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Interest income on debt securities available for sale is
recognised in the income statement in interest income
using the effective interest method as disclosed in note
1(v).
(xii) Non-current assets and disposal groups classified
as held for sale
This category includes interests in associates and joint
ventures for which their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than
continuing use, and subsidiaries held exclusively with a
view to sale. These assets are classified as held for sale
when it is highly probable that the asset will be sold within
12 months subsequent to being classified as such. Where
there is a planned partial disposal of a subsidiary resulting
in loss of control, all of the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary are classified as held for sale.
Non-current assets and assets of disposal groups
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
These assets are not depreciated.
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write down of the asset to fair value less costs
to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increase in
fair value less costs to sell, limited by the cumulative
impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not
previously recognised by the date of sale is recognised at
the date of sale.
(xiii) Impairment
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Loan assets are subject to regular review and assessment
for possible impairment. Provisions for impairment on loan
assets are recognised based on an incurred loss model
and re-assessed at each balance date. A provision for
impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence
of impairment, and is calculated based on the present
value of expected future cash flows, discounted using the
original effective interest rate.
Individually assessed provisions for impairment are
recognised where impairment of individual loans are
identified. Where individual loans are found not to be
impaired, they are placed into pools of assets with similar
risk profiles and collectively assessed for losses that have
been incurred but are not yet specifically identifiable.

The Consolidated Entity makes judgements as to whether
there is any observable data indicating that there is a
significant decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be
identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This
evidence may include observable data indicating that
there has been an adverse change in the payment status
of the borrowers in a group, or national or local economic
conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in
the group. Management uses estimates based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics and objective evidence of impairment
similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future
cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for
estimating both the amount and timing of future cash
flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences
between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
Changes in assumptions used for estimating future cash
flows could result in a change in the estimated provisions
for impairment on loan assets at the end of a reporting
period.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment
losses decrease and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses were recognised, the previously recognised
impairment losses are reversed through the income
statement to the extent of what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
Investment securities available for sale
The Consolidated Entity performs an assessment at each
balance date to determine whether there is any objective
evidence that available for sale financial assets have been
impaired. Impairment exists if there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events (loss
event) which have an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
For equity securities classified as available for sale, the
main indicators of impairment are: significant changes in
the market, economic or legal environment and a
significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost. In
making this judgement, the Consolidated Entity evaluates
among other factors, the normal volatility in share price
and the period of time for which fair value has been below
cost.
In the case of debt securities classified as available for
sale, observable data that relates to loss events are
considered, including adverse changes in the payment
status of the issuer and national or local economic
conditions that correlate with defaults on those assets.
In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is
evidence of deterioration in the financial condition of the
investee, industry and sector performance, operational
and financing cash flows or changes in technology.

Impairment losses recognised in the income statement for
equity securities classified as available for sale are not
subsequently reversed through the income statement.
However impairment losses recognised for debt
investment securities classified as available for sale are
subsequently reversed through the income statement if
the fair value increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event after the impairment loss was
recognised in the income statement.
Interests in associates and joint ventures
The Consolidated Entity performs an assessment at each
balance date to determine whether there is any objective
evidence that its interests in associates and joint ventures
are impaired. The entire carrying amount of each
investment in associate and joint venture is considered in
the assessment. The main indicators of impairment are as
for equity securities classified as available for sale,
disclosed above.
If there is an indication that an investment in an associate
or joint venture may be impaired, then the entire carrying
amount of the investment in associate or joint venture is
tested for impairment by comparing the recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to
sell) with its carrying amount. Impairment losses
recognised in the income statement for investments in
associates and joint ventures are subsequently reversed
through the income statement if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine recoverable amount
since the impairment loss was recognised.
(xiv) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date.
Historical cost includes expenditure directly attributable to
the acquisition of the asset. Property, plant and equipment
includes assets leased out under operating leases.
Depreciation on assets is calculated on a straight-line basis
to allocate the difference between cost and residual values
over their estimated useful lives, at the following rates:
Buildings
Furniture, fittings and
leasehold improvements(1)
Equipment
Infrastructure assets
Aviation
Other operating lease assets
(1)

2.5 to 3.3 per cent
10 to 20 per cent
33 to 50 per cent
5 to 20 per cent
3 to 4 per cent
2 to 50 per cent

Where remaining lease terms are less than five years,
leasehold improvements are depreciated over the remaining
lease term.

When the fair value of an available for sale financial asset
is less than its initial carrying amount and there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss
recognised directly in OCI is removed from equity and
recognised in the income statement.
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(xiv) Property, plant and equipment continued
Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and
reassessed in light of commercial and technological
developments. If an asset’s carrying value is greater than
its recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount. Adjustments
arising from such items and on disposal of property, plant
and equipment are recognised in the income statement.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing proceeds with the asset’s carrying amount and
are recognised in the income statement.
(xv) Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration over
the Consolidated Entity’s share of the fair value of the
identifiable net assets of the acquired entity at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill arising from business combinations
is included in intangible assets on the face of the
statement of financial position. Goodwill arising from
acquisitions of associates is included in the carrying
amount of investments in associates.
Other identifiable intangible assets
An intangible asset is considered to have an indefinite
useful life where it is expected to contribute to the
Consolidated Entity’s net cash inflows indefinitely.
Licences and trading rights are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. These assets are not
amortised because they are considered to have an
indefinite useful life.
Management rights have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of management rights over
the estimated useful life, usually a period not exceeding
20 years.
Customer and servicing contracts acquired with a finite
useful life are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated based on the timing of projected cash flows of
the relationships over their estimated useful lives.
Customer and servicing contracts with an indefinite useful
life are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Software
Certain internal and external costs directly incurred in
acquiring and developing certain software are capitalised
and amortised over the estimated useful life, usually a
period of three years. Costs incurred on software
maintenance are expensed as incurred.
Impairment
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. For intangible assets that
have a finite useful life, an assessment is made at each
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reporting date for indications of impairment. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating
units). Intangible assets (other than goodwill) that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
(xvi) Financial liabilities
The Consolidated Entity has on issue debt securities and
instruments which are initially recognised at fair value net
of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss
This category includes only those financial liabilities which
have been designated by management as held at fair
value through profit or loss on initial recognition. The policy
of management is to designate a financial liability as such
if: the liability contains embedded derivatives which must
otherwise be separated and carried at fair value; the
liability is part of a group of financial assets and financial
liabilities managed and evaluated on a fair value basis; or
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise. Interest expense on such items is
recognised in the income statement in interest expense
using the effective interest method.
(xvii) Provisions
Employee benefits
A liability for employee benefits is recognised by the entity
that has the obligation to the employee. Generally, this is
consistent with the legal position of the parties to the
employment contract.
Liabilities for unpaid salaries, salary related costs and
provisions for annual leave are recorded in the statement
of financial position at the salary rates which are expected
to be paid when the liability is settled. Provisions for long
service leave and other long-term benefits are recognised
at the present value of expected future payments to be
made.
In determining this amount, consideration is given to
expected future salary levels and employee service
histories. Expected future payments are discounted to
their net present value using discount rates on high quality
corporate bonds, except where there is no deep market,
in which case rates on Commonwealth Government
securities are used. Such discount rates have terms that
match as closely as possible the expected future cash
flows.
Provisions for unpaid employee benefits are derecognised
when the benefit is settled, or is transferred to another
entity and the Consolidated Entity is legally released from
the obligation and does not retain a constructive obligation.

Dividends
Provisions for dividends to be paid by the Company are
recognised on the statement of financial position as a
liability and a reduction in retained earnings when the
dividend has been declared.
(xviii) Performance based remuneration
Share-based payments
The ultimate parent entity Macquarie Group Limited (MGL),
operates share-based compensation plans, which include
options granted to employees and shares (including those
delivered through the Macquarie Group Employee
Retained Equity Plan (MEREP)) granted to employees
under share acquisition plans. Information relating to these
schemes is set out in note 27. The Consolidated Entity
recognises an expense for its shares and options granted
to its employees by MGL. The shares and options are
measured at the grant dates based on their fair value and
using the number of equity instruments expected to vest.
This amount is recognised as an expense evenly over the
respective vesting periods.
Performance hurdles attached to options, and
Performance Share Units (PSUs) under the MEREP, that
are issued to the Executive Committee members are not
taken into account when determining the fair value of the
options and PSUs at grant date. Instead, these vesting
conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number
of equity instruments expected to vest.
The fair value of each option granted in prior years was
estimated on the date of grant using standard option
pricing techniques based on the Black-Scholes theory.
No grants have been made in the previous three financial
years.
In December 2009, MGL established the MEREP.
Restricted Share Units (RSUs)/Deferred Share Units
(DSUs) and PSUs for MGL and Macquarie Bank Limited
(MBL) Executive Committee members, have been granted
in the current year in respect of 2012. The fair value of
each of these grants is estimated using MGL’s share price
on the date of grant, and for each PSU also incorporates a
discounted cash flow method using the following key
assumptions:
– interest rate to maturity: 3.70 per cent;
– expected vest dates: 1 July 2015 and 1 July 2016; and
– dividend yield: 4.76 per cent per annum.
While RSUs/DSUs, and PSUs for Executive Committee
members, in respect of the current year’s performance will
be granted in the following financial year, the Consolidated
Entity begins recognising an expense (based on an initial
estimate) from 1 April of the current financial year related
to these future grants. The expense is estimated using
MGL’s share price as at 31 March 2013 (and for PSUs,
also incorporates an interest rate to maturity of 3.52 per
cent; expected vest dates of PSU: 1 July 2016 and 1 July
2017; and a dividend yield of 4.99 per cent per annum)
and the number of equity instruments expected to vest. In
the following financial year, the Consolidated Entity will
adjust the accumulated expense recognised for the final
determination of fair value for each RSU, DSU and PSU
when granted, and will use this valuation for recognising
the expense over the remaining vesting period.

Where options and shares are issued by MGL to
employees of the Consolidated Entity and MGL is not
subsequently reimbursed by those subsidiaries, the
Consolidated Entity recognises the equity provided as a
capital contribution from MGL. Where MGL is reimbursed,
the Consolidated Entity recognises any amount it pays in
advance (of the share-based payment to be recognised as
an expense over the future vesting period) as a prepaid
asset.
The Consolidated Entity annually revises its estimates of
the number of shares (including those delivered through
MEREP) and options that are expected to vest. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity in MGL.
Profit share remuneration
The Consolidated Entity recognises a liability and an
expense for profit share remuneration to be paid in cash.
(xix) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
– cash and balances with central banks and short-term
amounts included in receivables from financial
institutions; and
– certain trading portfolio assets and debt securities with
contractual maturity of three months or less.
(xx) Leases
Where finance leases are granted to third parties, the
present value of the lease receipts is recognised as a
receivable and included in loan assets held at amortised
cost. The difference between the gross receivable and the
present value of the receivable is unearned interest
income. Lease receipts are discounted using interest rate
implicit in the lease. Lease income is recognised over the
term of the lease using the effective interest method,
which reflects a constant rate of return.
Leases entered into by the Consolidated Entity as lessee
are primarily operating leases. The total fixed payments
made under operating leases are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.
Purchased assets, where the Consolidated Entity is the
lessor under operating leases, are carried at cost and
depreciated over their useful lives which vary depending
on each class of asset and range from 2 to 50 years.
Operating lease income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more appropriate. Assets leased out
under operating leases are included in property, plant and
equipment.
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Note 1
Summary of significant accounting policies
continued
(xxi) Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported on the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or realise the financial asset and settle the
financial liability simultaneously.
(xxii) Loan capital
Loan capital is debt issued by the Consolidated Entity with
terms and conditions that qualify for inclusion as capital
under APRA Prudential Standards. Loan capital debt
issues are initially recorded at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs and thereafter at either
amortised cost using the effective interest method (for
debt host component of convertible preference securities
and subordinated debt at amortised cost) or at fair value
through profit or loss (for subordinated debt at fair value
through profit or loss).
(xxiii) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
(xxiv) Changes in ownership interests
When acquiring additional interests of a financial asset
(such that it becomes an associate, joint venture or
subsidiary) or an investment in an associate or joint
venture (such that it becomes a subsidiary), previously
held interests are revalued to their current fair value and
any gain or loss is immediately recognised in profit or loss.
Similarly, when selling ownership interests of a subsidiary
(such that control is lost), or an investment in associate or
joint venture (such that it becomes a financial asset),
retained ownership interests are revalued to their current
fair value and any gain or loss is immediately recognised in
the income statement.
When increasing or decreasing the ownership interests of
a subsidiary that remains a subsidiary afterwards, the
consideration exchanged is recognised directly in equity.
(xxv) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been
restated to conform with changes in presentation in the
current year.
(xxvi) Rounding of amounts
In accordance with Australian Securities & Investments
Commission Class Order 98/100 (as amended), amounts
in the Financial Report have been rounded off to the
nearest million dollars unless otherwise indicated.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

Net interest income
Interest and similar income received/receivable
Interest expense and similar charges paid/payable
Net interest expense

377
(487)
(110)

378
(557)
(179)

Fee and commission income
Base fees
Performance fees
Mergers and acquisitions, advisory and underwriting fees
Brokerage and commissions
Other fee and commission income
Total fee and commission income

380
139
618
447
248
1,832

344
100
639
602
251
1,936

(69)
11
(28)
113
27

23
–
(9)
89
103

54

65

Note 2
2

Profit for the financial year

Net trading income(1)
Equities
Commodities
Foreign exchange products
Interest rate products
Net trading income
Share of net profits of associates and joint
ventures accounted for using the equity method
(1)

Included in net trading income are fair value losses of $28 million (2012: $27 million) relating to financial assets and financial
liabilities designated as held at fair value through profit or loss. Fair value changes relating to derivatives are also reported in net
trading income which partially offsets the fair value changes relating to the financial assets and financial liabilities designated at
fair value. This also includes fair value changes on derivatives used to hedge the Consolidated Entity’s interest rate risk where
hedge accounting requirements are not met – refer to note 1(ix) – Summary of significant accounting policies.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

Note 2
Profit for the financial year continued
Other operating income and charges
Net gains on sale of investment securities available for sale
Impairment charge on investment securities available for sale
Net gains on sale of associates and joint ventures
Impairment charge on investments in associates and joint ventures(1)
Gain on change of ownership interests(2)
Impairment charge on non-financial assets
Net operating lease income(3)
Dividends/distributions received/receivable:
Investment securities available for sale
Collective allowance for credit losses provided for during the financial year (note 8)
Individually assessed provisions:
Loan assets provided for during the financial year (note 8)
Other receivables provided for during the financial year
Loan losses written off
Recovery of loans previously written off
Other income
Total other operating income and charges
Net operating income
(1)
(2)

(3)

24

17
(62)
157
(130)
120
(17)
–

5
(29)
106
(80)
29
(16)
9

122
(9)

390
(11)

(22)
(6)
(2)
–
59
227
2,030

(20)
(22)
(3)
3
55
416
2,341

Includes impairment reversals of $46 million (2012: $37 million).
Includes gains/(losses) on re-measurement of retained ownership interests to fair value on the loss of control of investments in
subsidiaries and the loss of significant influence on investments associates.
Includes rental income of $2 million (2012: $12 million) less depreciation of $2 million (2012: $3 million) in relation to operating
leases where the Consolidated Entity is the lessor.

2013
$m

2012
$m

(1,000)

(1,189)

(124)

(135)

Reversal of/(provision for) annual leave

4

(11)

Reversal of long service leave

1

1

(1,119)

(1,334)

(70)

(109)

Note 2
Profit for the financial year continued
Employment expenses
Salary and salary related costs including commissions, superannuation and
performance-related profit share
Share based payments

Total employment expenses
Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses
Brokerage and other trading related expenses
Other fee and commission expenses
Total brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses

(8)

(4)

(78)

(113)

Occupancy expenses
Operating lease rentals

(107)

(148)

Depreciation: furniture, fittings and leasehold improvements (note 11)

(44)

(54)

Other occupancy expenses

(14)

(10)

Total occupancy expenses

(165)

(212)

Information services

(58)

(65)

Depreciation: equipment (note 11)

(13)

(20)

Other non-salary technology expenses

(18)

(24)

Total non-salary technology expenses

(89)

(109)

(56)

(74)

Non-salary technology expenses

Other operating expenses
Professional fees
Auditor’s remuneration (note 34)

(9)

(8)

Travel and entertainment expenses

(60)

(74)

Communication expenses

(11)

(16)

Amortisation of intangibles (note 13)

(8)

(17)

Depreciation: equipment (note 11)

(1)

(2)

Other expenses(1)

(6)

(17)

Total other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
(1)

(151)

(208)

(1,602)

(1,976)

Other expenses include recharges from Macquarie Group Services Pty Limited (MGSA) which provides administration and
central support functions.
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for the financial year ended 31 March 2013
continued

2013
$m

2012
$m

(62)

(183)

Note 3
3

Income tax expense
(i) Income tax expense
Current tax expense
Deferred tax (expense)/benefit

(137)

81

Total

(199)

(102)

Deferred income tax (expense)/revenue included in
income tax expense comprises:
(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax assets
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities
Total

(140)

197

3

(116)

(137)

81

(128)

(110)

(ii) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
Prima facie income tax expense on operating profit(1)
Tax effect of amounts which are non assessable/(not deductible)
in calculating taxable income:
Rate differential on offshore income
Share based payments expense
Other items
Total income tax expense

(63)

14

6

(10)

(14)

4

(199)

(102)

(79)
(1)
(65)

26
–
55

(8)

7

(153)

88

43
(10)
(5)
(25)

(72)
(11)
(41)
9

(72)
(68)
(137)

135
61
81

(iii) Tax (expense)/benefit relating to items of other comprehensive income
Available for sale investments
Cash flow hedges
Foreign currency translation reserve
Share of other comprehensive (expense)/income of
associates and joint ventures
Total tax (expense)/benefit relating to items of
other comprehensive income
(iv) Deferred tax (expense)/benefit represents movement in deferred tax assets/ liabilities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates, securities
available for sale and joint ventures
Fixed assets
Financial instruments
Intangible assets
Other assets and liabilities
Tax losses
Net deferred tax (expense)/benefit
(1)

Prima facie income tax on operating profit is calculated at the rate of 30 per cent (2012: 30 per cent).

Revenue authorities undertake risk reviews and audits as part of their normal activities.
During the year, the Consolidated Entity has received amended assessments from the Australian Tax Office (ATO), which
cover a range of items. In accordance with ATO practice, the Consolidated Entity has paid some of the primary tax and
interest covered by these amended assessments and this has been recognised in these financial statements as a tax
receivable.
The Consolidated Entity has considered its position with respect to these and other tax claims, including seeking advice,
and considers that it holds appropriate provisions.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

1,156

1,859

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse repurchase
agreements(2)

561

574

Other loans to banks

463

680

Note 4
4

Receivables from financial institutions
Cash at bank(1)

Due from clearing houses
Total receivables from financial institutions(3)
(1)
(2)

(3)

410

44

2,590

3,157

Included within this balance is $34 million (2012: $12 million) provided as security over payables to other financial institutions.
The Consolidated Entity enters into stock borrowing and reverse repurchase transactions with counterparties which require
lodgement of non-cash collateral. Under certain transactions, the Consolidated Entity is allowed to resell or re-pledge the
collateral held under terms that are usual and customary, but is obliged to return equivalent securities. The fair value of
collateral held as at 31 March 2013 is $577 million (2012: $522 million), which is generally sold or re-pledged.
Receivables from financial institutions include $15 million (2012: $16 million) held in segregated deposit fund and escrow
accounts which are restricted for use.

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the
Consolidated Entity.
In the year ended 31 March 2012, $574 million (2011: $1,372 million) of cash collaterals on securities borrowed and
reverse repurchase agreements were disclosed as separate line in the statement of financial position of the
Consolidated Entity.

Note 5
5

Trading portfolio assets
Corporate securities

417

245

Listed equity securities

355

348

Bank bills

39

20

Foreign government securities

13

20

824

633

Total trading portfolio assets
(1)

(2)

(1),(2)

Included within these balance are assets provided as security over issued notes and payables to other external investors and
financial institutions. The value of assets provided as security is $98 million (2012: $nil).
Included within this balance are trading assets of $209 million (2012: $nil) pledged as collateral to secure liabilities under
repurchase and stock lending agreements.

The above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

2,042

1,348

684

515

Note 6
6

Investment securities available for sale
Equity securities
Listed
Unlisted
Debt securities
Total investment securities available for sale

187

161

2,913

2,024

Of the above amounts $92 million (2012: $111 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date
by the Consolidated Entity.

Note 7
7

Other assets
Security settlements(1)
Debtors and prepayments
Income tax receivable
Other
(2)

Total other assets
(1)
(2)

3,311

5,749

916

904

58

55

4

7

4,289

6,715

Security settlements are receivable within three working days of the relevant trade date.
Included within this balance is $236 million (2012: $161 million) of assets which are provided as security over payables to other
financial institutions.

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the
Consolidated Entity.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

979

890

82

124

1,061

1,014

Due from clearing houses

53

101

Due from governments(2)

75

32

1,189

1,147

(34)

(25)

1,155

1,122

Note 8
8

Loan assets held at amortised cost
Due from other entities, net of individually
assessed provision for impairment
Other loans and advances (1)
Lease receivables
Due from other entities, net of individually
assessed provision for impairment

Total loan assets before collective allowance for credit
losses
Less collective allowance for credit losses
Total loan assets held at amortised cost
(1)
(2)
(3)

(3)

The balance is net of $57 million (2012: $37 million) of individually assessed provision of impairment.
Governments include federal, state and local governments and related enterprises, predominantly in Australia.
Included within this balance are other loans of $155 million (2012: $185 million) provided as security over issued notes and
payables to other external investors and financial institutions.

Of the above amounts $198 million (2012: $301 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance
date by the Consolidated Entity.
Individually assessed provisions for impairment
Balance at the beginning of the financial year

37

20

Provided for during the financial year (note 2)

22

20

Loan assets written-off, previously provided for

(2)

(3)

Balance at the end of the financial year

57

37

4.58%

3.13%

Collective allowance for credit losses
Balance at the beginning of the financial year

25

15

Provided for during the financial year (note 2)

9

11

Impact of foreign currency translation

–

(1)

34

25

Individually assessed provisions as a percentage
of total gross loan assets

Balance at the end of the financial year

The collective allowance for credit losses is intended to cover losses in the existing overall credit portfolio which are not
yet individually identifiable.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

168

137

(105)

(87)

63

50

252

628

Note 9
9

Impaired financial assets
Impaired loan assets and other financial assets with individually assessed provisions for
impairment
Less individually assessed provisions for impairment
Total net impaired financial assets

Note 10
10 Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loan assets
Investment securities
Total other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss(1)
(1)

2

2

254

630

Included within this balance is $nil (2012: $454 million) provided as security over payables to other financial
institutions.

Of the above amounts $1 million (2012: $628 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date
by the Consolidated Entity.

30

2013
$m

2012
$m

Note 11
11 Property, plant and equipment
Assets for own use
Furniture, fittings and leasehold improvements
Cost

335

373

(204)

(196)

131

177

Cost

5

–

Less accumulated depreciation

–

–

Total buildings

5

–

80

91

(70)

(66)

10

25

Less accumulated depreciation
Total furniture, fittings and leasehold improvements
Buildings

Equipment
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total equipment
Infrastructure assets
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation

9

9

(2)

(2)

Total infrastructure assets

7

7

Total assets for own use

153

209

Cost

–

–

Less accumulated depreciation

–

–

Total aviation

–

–

Cost

–

34

Less accumulated depreciation

–

(13)

Total other

–

21

Total assets under operating lease

–

21

153

230

Assets under operating lease
Aviation

Other

Total property, plant and equipment

All of the above are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity.
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Note 11
Property, plant and equipment continued
Reconciliation of the movement in the Consolidated Entity’s property, plant and equipment at their written-down
value:
Furniture,
fittings and
leasehold
improvements
$m

Buildings
$m

Equipment
$m

Infrastructure
assets
$m

Total
$m

221

–

37

8

266

Acquisitions

26

–

12

–

38

Disposals

(4)

–

(1)

–

(5)

Impairments

(7)

–

–

–

(7)

Foreign exchange movements

(5)

–

(1)

(1)

(7)

Depreciation expense (note 2)

(54)

–

(22)

–

(76)

Balance at 31 March 2012

177

–

25

7

209

Acquisitions

13

8

2

–

23

Disposals

(3)

–

(2)

–

(5)

Assets for own use
Balance at 1 April 2011

Reclassification

1

–

–

–

1

Impairments

(9)

(3)

–

–

(12)

Foreign exchange movements

(4)

–

(1)

–

(5)

Depreciation expense (note 2)

(44)

–

(14)

–

(58)

Balance at 31 March 2013

131

5

10

7

153

Included in the balance of property, plant and equipment are assets pledged as security over payables to other financial
institutions. The terms preclude these assets from being sold or being used as security for further liabilities without the
permission of the financial institution. The carrying value of assets pledged is $75 million (2012: $45 million).

Assets under operating lease
Balance at 1 April 2011
Disposals
Foreign exchange movements

Aviation
$m

Other
$m

Total
$m

2,138

23

2,161

(2,134)

–

(2,134)

(4)

–

(4)

Depreciation expense

–

(2)

(2)

Balance at 31 March 2012

–

21

21

Disposals

–

(19)

(19)

Depreciation expense

–

(2)

(2)

Balance at 31 March 2013

–

–

–

Included in the balance of operating leases are assets pledged as security over payables to other financial institutions.
The terms preclude these assets from being sold or being used as security for further liabilities without the permission of
the financial institution. The carrying value of assets pledged is $nil (2012: $21 million).
The future minimum lease payment expected to be received under non-cancellable operating leases is $nil (2012: $nil).
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2013
$m

2012
$m

1,490

1,508

459

934

(423)

(483)

36

451

1,526

1,959

Note 12
12 Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
Loans and investments without provisions for impairment
Loans and investments with provisions for impairment
Less provision for impairment
Loans and investments at recoverable amount
Total interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method

The fair values of certain interests in material associates and joint ventures, for which there are public quotations, are
below their carrying value by $93 million (2012: $77 million).
All of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity.
(i)

Reconciliation of movement in the Consolidated Entity’s interests in associates and joint ventures using the
equity method:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Transfer as part of restructure(1)

1,959

1,875

31

54

334

247

77

93

Share of tax expense of associates and joint ventures

(23)

(28)

Dividends received from associates

(60)

(50)

Associates disposed of

(432)

(148)

Impairment of investments in associates

(110)

(71)

43

(55)

Associates acquired/equity invested
Share of pre-tax profits of associates and joint ventures

Foreign exchange and other adjustments
Transferred (to)/from other asset categories

(293)

42

Balance at the end of the financial year

1,526

1,959

(1)

During the year ended 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012, certain entities were transferred from the Banking Group to the
Non Banking Group.
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Note 12
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method continued
(ii) Summarised information of interests in material associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method is as follows:
Ownership interest
Name of entity
MPF Holdings Limited(a)
Macquarie Goodman Japan Limited

(1),(b)

2013

2012

Country of incorporation

Reporting date

%

%

United Kingdom

31 December

30

–

Singapore

31 March

–

50

Miclyn Express Offshore Limited (1),(c)

Bermuda

30 June

–

33

Southern Cross Media Group(d)

Australia

30 June

25

25

2013
$m

2012
$m

(1)
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Sold during the year.
Infrastructure
Property development/management
Metals, mining and energy
Television and radio investments

(iii) Contingent liabilities of associates and joint ventures are as follows:
Share incurred jointly with other investors

–

–

For which the Consolidated Entity is severally liable

–

–

(iv) Financial information of interests in associates and joint ventures are as follows:
Consolidated Entity’s share of:
Assets

4,627

5,834

Liabilities

2,693
925

3,443

54

65

Revenues
Profit after tax

34

1,042

2013
$m

2012
$m

306

357

Intangible assets with indefinite lives

21

22

Customer and servicing contracts

26

35

Other identifiable intangible assets

52

50

405

464

Note 13
13 Intangible assets
Goodwill

Total intangible assets

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the
Consolidated Entity.
Reconciliation of the Consolidated Entity’s movement in intangible assets:

Goodwill
$m

Intangible
assets with
Customer
indefinite and servicing
contracts
lives
$m
$m

Other
identifiable
intangible
assets
$m

Total
$m

333

23

47

45

448

35

–

–

45

80

Adjustments to purchase consideration

(2)

–

9

(1)

6

Disposals

(5)

–

(2)

(35)

(42)

Impairment

–

–

(15)

(1)

(16)

Amortisation expense

–

–

(10)

(7)

(17)

Balance at 1 April 2011
Acquisitions
(1)

Currency translation difference arising during
the financial year
Balance at 31 March 2012
Acquisitions

(4)

(1)

6

4

5

357

22

35

50

464
7

–

–

–

7

Reclassifications

(1)

–

–

1

–

Adjustments to purchase consideration(1)

(2)

–

–

(4)

(6)

Disposals

(42)

–

–

–

(42)

Impairment

–

–

(3)

–

(3)

Amortisation expense

–

–

(6)

(2)

(8)

(6)

(1)

–

–

(7)

306

21

26

52

405

Currency translation difference arising during
the financial year
Balance at 31 March 2013
(1)

These balances relate to adjustments to purchase considerations and allocations.

In relation to businesses acquired and held for disposal, the individual business is treated as a cash generating unit.
Assets associated with strategic business acquisitions are allocated to each of the operating segments (refer
to Macquarie Group Limited's financial report) and assessed for impairment on a regional legal entity operating group
basis.
The recoverable amount of goodwill is determined using the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs to
sell. Value-in-use calculations are based upon discounting estimated post-tax cash flows at a risk-adjusted interest rate
appropriate to the cash generating unit to which the goodwill applies. The determination of both cashflows and discount
rates require the exercise of judgement. The calculations use cash flow estimations based on financial budgets and
forecasts reviewed by management. These cashflows are discounted at rates that have been determined by reference to
historical company and industry experience and publicly available data.
Fair values less costs to sell calculations are determined using an earnings multiple approach applicable to that type of
business. These have been determined by reference to historical company and industry experience and publicly available
data.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

Other assets and liabilities

201

246

Tax losses

113

181

Investment in subsidiaries, associates, securities available for sale and joint ventures

229

389

42

52

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities

(31)

29

Total deferred tax assets

554

897

Financial Instruments

(94)

(88)

Intangible assets

(17)

8

Other assets and liabilities

(28)

–

Note 14
14 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Fixed assets

Set-off of deferred tax assets

31

(29)

Total deferred tax liabilities

(108)

(109)

446

788

Net deferred tax assets

All of the above are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity.
Potential tax assets of approximately $45 million (2012: $53 million) attributable to tax losses carried forward by
subsidiaries have not been brought to account in the subsidiaries and in the Consolidated Entity as the Directors do not
believe the realisation of the tax assets is probable.
The principles of the balance sheet method of tax effect accounting have been adopted whereby the income tax
expense for the financial year is the tax payable on the current year's taxable income adjusted for changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements and to unused tax losses. Deductible temporary differences and tax losses give rise
to deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets are not recognised unless the benefit is probable of realisation.
The deferred tax assets have been applied against deferred tax liabilities to the extent that they are expected to be
realised in the same year, within the same tax paying entity.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

Government securities

74

64

Listed equity securities

28

44

Corporate securities

11

–

113

108

3,346

5,641

Creditors

904

448

Accrued charges and sundry provisions

569

685

Income tax payable

39

52

Other

70

64

4,928

6,890

Note 15
15 Trading portfolio liabilities

Total trading portfolio liabilities

Note 16
16 Other liabilities
Due to brokers and customers

Total other liabilities

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated
Entity.

Note 17
17 Payables to financial institutions
Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements

242

47

OECD banks

174

190

Other

108

137

Total payables to financial institutions

524

374

In the year ended 31 March 2012, $47 million (2011: $514 million) of cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase
agreements were disclosed as a separate line in the statement of financial position.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

783

603

–

439

Note 18
18 Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Equity linked notes
Debt issued at fair value
Exchangeable shares(1)
Total other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(1)

23

39

806

1,081

Exchangeable shares were issued by two subsidiaries:
Issued in November 2007 as cash consideration for the acquisition of Orion Financial Inc, they are eligible to be exchanged
one-for-one for shares in MGL (subject to staff trading restrictions) and will pay dividends equal to the MGL dividends during
their legal life. The exchangeable shares will expire in November 2017 and carry no MGL voting rights.
Issued by a subsidiary in August 2009 as consideration for the acquisition of Tristone Capital Global Inc, they are eligible to be
exchanged one-for-one for shares in MGL (subject to staff trading restrictions) or cash at MGL’s discretion and will pay
dividends equal to MGL dividends during their legal life. The exchangeable shares must be exchanged by August 2019 and
carry no MGL voting rights.

Note 19
19 Debt issued at amortised cost
Debt issued at amortised cost

1,779

39

Total debt issued at amortised cost

1,779

39

The Consolidated Entity has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its debt during
the years reported.
Reconciliation of other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and debt issued at amortised cost by major currency:

(in Australian dollar equivalent)
United States dollars

1,661

–

South African rand

592

747

Korean won

298

317

Canadian dollars

23

39

Others

11

17

2,585

1,120

Provision for annual leave

35

44

Provision for long service leave

12

16

Total by currency

Note 20
20 Provisions

Provision for other employee entitlements
Total provisions

5

4

52

64

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated
Entity.
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Note 21
21 Loan capital
Subordinated debt
Agreements between the Consolidated Entity and the lenders provide that, in the event of liquidation, entitlement of such
lenders to repayment of the principal sum and interest thereon is and shall at all times be and remain subordinated to the
rights of all other present and future creditors of the Consolidated Entity. Details of selected capital instruments are
discussed below.
Macquarie Convertible Preference Securities (CPS)
In July 2008, Macquarie CPS Trust, a subsidiary of the Company issued six million CPS at face value of $100 each.
These instruments are non-cumulative and unsecured and may be resold, mandatorily converted into MGL ordinary
shares (subject to certain conditions being satisfied) or redeemed on 30 June 2013. The CPS bears fixed-rate coupons
at 11.095 per cent per annum, paid semi-annually until 30 June 2013, and thereafter a floating rate will apply.
The total number of MGL ordinary shares that would be issued if CPS were exchanged at 31 March 2013 would be
16,170,611.
In May 2013, a reinvestment offer was made to the CPS holders. The offer allows CPS holders to apply for a
corresponding number of Macquarie Group Capital Notes (MCN) to be issued by MGL in June 2013. In conjunction with
this offer, a resale notice was issued for CPS, whereby all CPS will be sold to MFHL, as resale agent, on 1 July 2013
(subject to some conditions). Following the resale, CPS are expected to be redeemed at face value.
Macquarie Preferred Membership Interests
On 2 December 2010, Macquarie PMI LLC, a subsidiary of the Company, issued US$400m of US$ denominated
Preferred Membership Interests (Macquarie PMI). These instruments are non-cumulative and unsecured equity interests
in the issuer. They are redeemable at the Company’s option on any distribution date from 2 December 2015, and are
non-dilutive, as they will only exchange to MGL preference shares in specified circumstances, and mandatorily on 26
November 2035. The Macquarie PMI bears fixed-rate coupons at 8.375 per cent per annum, paid semi-annually.
The total number of MGL preference shares that would be issued if Macquarie PMI were exchanged at 31 March 2013
would be 400,000.
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Note 21
Loan capital continued
Maturity and currency profiles of loan capital instruments
The dates upon which the Consolidated Entity has committed to repay the principal sum to the lenders are as follows:

Less than 12 months

2013
$m

2012
$m

26

28

12 November 2014

9

10

Subordinated debt

35

38

Macquarie CPS(1)

600

600

Macquarie PMI

384

386

1,019

1,024

Instruments with conditional repayment obligations:

Loan capital
Less directly attributable issue cost

(1)

(2)

1,018

1,022

Australian dollars

616

619

United States dollars

394

395

Total loan capital(2)
Reconciliation of subordinated debt by major currency:

(In Australian dollar equivalent):

Euro
Total loan capital
Less directly attributable issue cost
Total loan capital
(1)
(2)

9

10

1,019

1,024

(1)

(2)

1,018

1,022

Accrued interest of $16 million (2012: $17 million) is included in the less than 12 months principal sum due to lenders.
The balance is net of fair value hedge accounting adjustments.

The Consolidated Entity has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its loan capital
during the years reported.
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2012
Number of
shares

2013
$m

2012
$m

15,365,339,346 16,162,223,475

15,426

16,219

198,398

13

5

2013
Number of
shares

Note 22
22 Contributed equity
Ordinary share capital
Opening balance of fully paid ordinary shares
Issue of shares to MGL on retraction of exchangeable
shares in the range of $24.98 to $37.53 (31 March
2012:$21.93 to $34.72) per share
Issue of shares to MGL on retraction of exchangeable
shares in the range of $25.29 to $31.16 (31 March
2012:$22.97 to $34.66) per share
Capital reduction of shares at $1.00 per share
Closing balance of fully paid ordinary shares

379,687

244,931

62,162

7

2

(398,435,454)

(797,144,689)

(400)

(800)

14,967,528,510 15,365,339,346

15,046

15,426

2013
$m

2012
$m

(14,023)

–

–

(14,023)

(14,023)

(14,023)

306

299

Contributed equity on group restructures(1)
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Transfer from reserves arising from group restructure of
combining entities under common control
Balance at the end of the financial year
Equity contribution from ultimate parent entity
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
(Return of capital)/additional paid up capital
Balance at the end of the financial year
Contributed equity

(2),(3)

(12)

7

294

306

1,317

1,709

(1)

Reserves arising from group restructure of combining entities under common control relate predominantly to transactions in
the 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008 financial years where these reserves and contributed equity were disclosed on a gross
basis to explain the impacts of restructures of entities under the control of MGL. While the presentation was relevant to those
reporting periods, there is no continuing value to the users of the accounts in carrying forward the gross disclosures on the
face of the statement of financial position and as such, these reserves have been presented in contributed equity.
(2)
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company's parent entity, MGL, introduced MEREP, which grants RSUs, DSUs and
PSUs to eligible staff of the Consolidated Entity. Under the MEREP the staff retained profit share is held in the shares of MGL
by Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan Trust (MEREP Trust). Where MEREP awards are issued by MGL to
employees of the Consolidated Entity and MGL is not subsequently reimbursed by the Consolidated Entity, the Consolidated
Entity recognises the equity provided as a capital contribution from MGL. For the year ended 31 March 2013, reversal of
MEREP related compensation expense for not meeting the performance hurdles and its related tax effects treated as return of
capital totalled $1,896,379 (2012: $nil). For further information regarding the terms and conditions of MEREP refer to note 27 –
Employee equity participation.
(3)

MGL operates a share-based compensation plan, the Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan (MGESOP), which
grants options to employees of the Consolidated Entity. Staff eligible to participate are those of Associate Director level and
above and certain consultants to the Consolidated Entity. The options are measured at their grant dates based on their fair
value and the number expected to vest. This amount is recognised as an expense evenly over the respective vesting periods
and the equity provided is treated as a capital contribution from MGL. For the year ended 31 March 2013, reversal of
MGESOP related compensation expense for not meeting the performance hurdles treated as return of capital totalled
$10,082,487. For the year ended March 2012, MGESOP related compensation expense treated as additional paid up capital
totalled $7,158,375. In addition, pursuant to an amendment to the terms of the Macquarie Group Staff Share Acquisition Plan
(MGSSAP) and Employee Share Plan (ESP) to allow the issue of new shares as an alternative to acquiring existing shares onmarket, compensation expense relating to these plans was recognised as additional paid up capital during the financial year,
totalling $54,210 (2012: $41,001). Disclosures on the MGESOP, MGSSAP and ESP are disclosed in note 27 – Employee
equity participation.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

Note 23
23 Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests
Reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Currency translation differences arising during the financial year, net of hedge
and tax
Balance at the end of the financial year
Available for sale reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Revaluation movement for the financial year, net of tax
Transfer to income statement upon impairment, net of tax
Transfer to income statement on realisation, net of tax
Balance at the end of the financial year
Cash flow hedging reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Revaluation movement for the financial year, net of tax
Balance at the end of the financial year
Share of reserves of interests in associates and
joint ventures using the equity method
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Share of other comprehensive income/(expense) during
the financial year
Balance at the end of the financial year
Reserves arising from group restructure of
combining entities under common control
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries from the Banking Group
Transfer to contributed equity(1)
Balance at the end of the financial year
Total reserves at the end of the financial year
Retained earnings
Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited
Balance at the end of the financial year
Non-controlling interests
Ordinary share capital
Preference share capital
Foreign currency translation reserve
Retained earnings
Total non-controlling interests
(1)

42

(123)

(195)

(92)
(215)

72
(123)

20
161
43
(14)
210

85
(61)
21
(25)
20

(3)
3
–

(9)
6
(3)

(27)

(10)

21
(6)

(17)
(27)

–
–
–
–

(14,026)
3
14,023

(11)

–
(133)

1,523
231
1,754

1,262
261
1,523

33
2
(15)
49
69

28
2
(14)
54
70

Reserves arising from group restructure of combining entities under common control relate predominantly to transactions in
the 31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008 financial years where these reserves and contributed equity were disclosed on a gross
basis to explain the impacts of restructures of entities under the control of MGL. While the presentation was relevant to those
reporting periods, there is no continuing value to the users of the accounts in carrying forward the gross disclosures and as
such, these reserves have been transferred to contributed equity.

2013
$m

2012
$m

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement
of cash flows is reconciled to related items in the statement of financial position as follows:
Due from related body corporate entity(1)
Receivables from financial institutions(2),(3)
Trading portfolio assets

2,540
1,878
44

1,221
2,579
23

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

4,462

3,823

Note 24
24 Notes to the statement of cash flows
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

(1)
(2)

(3)

This comprises cash balances held with a related body corporate entity, Macquarie Bank Limited (MBL).
Includes cash at bank, overnight cash at bank, other loans to banks and amounts due from clearing houses as per note 1(xvii)
– Summary of significant accounting policies.
Cash and cash equivalents include $15 million (March 2012: $16 million) held in segregated deposit fund and escrow accounts
which are restricted for use.

Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash flows from/(used in)
operating activities
Profit after income tax

229

263

Depreciation and amortisation

68

96

Fair value changes on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
realised investment securities available for sale

11

(22)

248

181

–

(18)

(294)

(140)

Share-based payment (reversal)/expense

(12)

7

Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method

(54)

(65)

Adjustments to profit:

Provision and impairment charge on financial and non-financial assets
Interest on available for sale financial assets
Net gains on sale of investment securities available for sale and associates and joint
ventures

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Change in dividends receivable
Change in value of associates due to dividends received
Change in fees and non-interest income receivable

–

6

60

50

2

(34)

Change in fees and commissions payable

(15)

(15)

Change in tax balances

119

65

Change in provisions for employee entitlements

(12)

(1)

(1,496)

(1,172)

Change in debtors, prepayments, accrued charges and creditors

(58)

(408)

Change in net trading portfolio assets and liabilities and net derivative financial
instruments

746

428

1,507

201

1,049

(578)

Change in loan assets

Change in net interest payable, amounts due to other financial institutions, deposits and
other borrowings
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
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Note 25
25 Related party information
Ultimate parent entity
The Consolidated Entity’s ultimate parent entity is MGL, a company incorporated in Australia and which produces
financial statements that are available for public use.
Transactions between the Consolidated Entity and the ultimate parent entity principally arise from the provision and
repayment of loans and the provision of administration and central support functions.
MGL as the ultimate parent entity of the Macquarie Group is the head entity of the Australian tax consolidated group. The
terms and conditions of the tax funding agreement are set out in note 1(vi) – Summary of significant accounting policies.
During the year ended 31 March 2013, amount receivable by the Consolidated Entity attributed to MGL as the head
entity of the tax consolidated group amounted to $118 million (2012: $36 million payable).
The following balances with the ultimate parent entity were outstanding as at financial year end:

Amounts payable

2013
$m
(6,305)

2012
$m
(6,359)

Other related body corporate entities
Transactions between the Consolidated Entity and other related body corporate entities under common control
principally arise from the granting of loans, the provision of management and administration services and the provision of
guarantees in respect of debt.
During the financial year, the following transactions occurred with other related body corporate entities:

Interest income received/receivable

2013
$m
102

2012
$m
121

Interest expense paid/payable

(279)

(328)

Fee and commission income

123

278

Other operating expense

(66)

(64)

The following balances with other related body corporate entities were outstanding as at financial year end:
Amounts receivable
4,573
Amounts payable

44

(359)

2,131
(644)

Note 25
Related party information continued
Associates and joint ventures
Transactions between the Consolidated Entity and its associates and joint ventures principally arise from the provision of
corporate advisory services, the granting of loans, derivative transactions and the provision of management services. All
transactions undertaken with associates and joint ventures are eliminated where they are unrealised, to the extent of
ownership interests held by the Consolidated Entity, in the consolidated income statement.
During the financial year, the following transactions occurred with associates and joint ventures:
2013
$m

2012
$m

Fee and commission income(1)

528

386

Gains on sale of securities(2)

157

106

Dividends and distributions(3)

60

50

Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses

(3)

(6)

(1)
(2)

(3)

Fee and commission income includes all fees charged to associates.
Gains on sale of securities are shown after elimination of unrealised profits/losses calculated by reference to the Consolidated
Entity’s ownership interest in the associate.
Dividends and distributions are shown as gross amounts. Under the equity method, these amounts are not taken up as profit
but are recorded as a reduction of the carrying amount of the investment.

The following balances with associates and joint ventures were outstanding at the end of the financial year (these exclude
amounts which in substance form part of the Consolidated Entity's net investment in associates, disclosed in
note 12 – Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method):
2013
$m

2012
$m

Amounts receivable

344

121

Amounts payable

(10)

(118)

Balances arising from lending and borrowing activities between the Consolidated Entity and its associates and joint
ventures are typically repayable on demand, but may be extended on a term basis and where appropriate may be either
subordinated or collateralised.
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Note 26
26

Key Management Personnel disclosure
Key Management Personnel
The following persons were Voting Directors of MFHL during the past two financial periods ended 31 March 2013 and
31 March 2012, unless otherwise indicated:
Voting Directors
M. Ferrier
C.T. Lynam
R.N. Upfold
In addition to the Voting Directors listed above the following persons, who were members of MGL’s Executive Committee,
also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries during the financial periods ended 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012.
Executives
S.D. Allen
T.C. Bishop
M. Carapiet
A.J. Downe
G.A. Farrell
R.S. Laidlaw
P.J. Maher
M. McLaughlin
N.W. Moore
W.R. Sheppard
S. Vrcelj
G.C. Ward
S. Wikramanayake
N. Sorbara

(retired 11 July 2011)
(retired 31 December 2011)
(appointed 1 January 2012)
(retired 20 December 2011)

(appointed 1 January 2013)

Key Management Personnel Remuneration
Amounts paid to Key Management Personnel in relation to their role as
KMP of the Company and its subsidiaries

For the year ended
31 March 2013
$

For the year ended
31 March 2012
$

21,651,938

12,271,093

The Key Management Personnel (KMP) did not receive any other benefits or consideration in connection with the
management of the Company and its subsidiaries. All other benefits that were received by the KMP were solely related to
other services performed with respect to their employment by MGL and its subsidiaries.
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Note 27
27 Employee equity participation
Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan
In December 2009, MGL’s shareholders approved the implementation of the Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity
Plan (MEREP) in conjunction with remuneration arrangements. These arrangements included a decrease in the portion of
staff profit share paid in cash and an increase in the portion delivered as equity, an increase in the proportion of deferred
remuneration and cessation of new option grants under the Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan (MGESOP).
Award Types under the MEREP

Restricted Share Units (RSUs)
A RSU is a beneficial interest in a Macquarie share held on behalf of a MEREP participant by the plan trustee (Trustee).
The participant is entitled to receive dividends on the share and direct the Trustee how to exercise voting rights in the
share. The participant also has the right to request the release of the share from the Trust, subject to the vesting and
forfeiture provisions of the MEREP.

Deferred Share Units (DSUs)
A DSU represents the right to receive on exercise of the DSU either a share held in the Trust or a newly issued share (as
determined by MGL in its absolute discretion) for no cash payment, subject to the vesting and forfeiture provisions of the
MEREP. A MEREP participant holding a DSU has no right or interest in any share until the DSU is exercised. MGL may
issue shares to the Trustee or procure the Trustee to acquire shares on-market for potential future allocations to holders
of DSUs. Generally DSUs will provide for cash payments in lieu of dividends paid on MGL shares before the DSU is
exercised. Further, the number of shares underlying a DSU will be adjusted upon any bonus issue or other capital
reconstruction of MGL in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, so that the holder of a DSU does not receive a benefit
that holders generally of MGL shares do not receive. These provisions are intended to provide the holders of DSUs, as
far as possible, with the same benefits and risks as are provided to holders of RSUs. However, holders of DSUs will have
no voting rights as to any underlying MGL shares. DSUs will only be offered in jurisdictions where legal or tax rules make
the grant of RSUs impractical, or where PSUs are structured as DSUs (see PSUs below).

Performance Share Units (PSUs)
PSUs are structured as DSUs or RSUs with performance hurdles that must be met before the underlying share or cash
equivalent (as the case may be) will be delivered. Where PSUs are structured as DSUs, holders have no right to dividend
equivalent payments before the PSUs vest. In all other respects, holders of these PSUs will have the same rights as
holders of DSUs. For 2012, the PSUs granted to the MGL Executive Committee, including the CEO, are structured as
DSUs with performance hurdles. The rights under any future PSUs structured as RSUs will generally be the same as the
rights under RSUs, except for the PSU performance hurdles which will not apply to RSUs.

Restricted Shares
A Restricted Share is a Macquarie share transferred from the MEREP Trust and held by a MEREP participant subject to
restrictions on disposal, vesting and forfeiture rules. The participant is entitled to receive dividends on those Restricted
Shares and to vote those Restricted Shares. Restricted Shares are only offered in jurisdictions where legal or tax rules
make RSU awards impractical.
The following is a summary of Awards which have been granted pursuant to the MEREP:

RSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
Vested RSUs withdrawn from the MEREP during the financial year
Forfeited during the financial year
Transfers from related body corporate entities
RSUs on issue at the end of the financial year
RSUs vested and not withdrawn from the MEREP at the end of the financial year

Number of
RSU Awards
2013

Number of
RSU Awards
2012

9,675,755
4,156,230
(1,944,674)
(515,258)
65,222
11,437,275
10,451

5,402,220
6,914,935
(550,274)
(1,238,881)
(851,245)
9,676,755
362,753

The weighted average fair value of the RSU Awards granted during the financial year was $26.77 (2012: $31.31).
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DSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
Exercised during the financial year
Forfeited during the financial year
Transfers to related body corporate entities
DSUs on issue at the end of the financial year
DSUs exercisable at the end of the financial year

Number of
DSU Awards
2013

Number of
DSU Awards
2012

2,384,918
1,220,209
(288,979)
(270,022)
(41,780)
3,004,346
166,945

1,066,237
1,609,748
(201,425)
(75,306)
(14,336)
2,384,918
108,199

The weighted average fair value of the DSU Awards granted during the financial year was $28.40 (2012: $31.18).

PSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
Exercised during the financial year
Expired during the financial year
Transfers from related body corporate entities
PSUs on issue at the end of the financial year
PSUs exercisable at the end of the financial year

Number of
PSU Awards
2013

Number of
PSU Awards
2012

163,808
26,814
–
(34,641)
305,192
461,173
–

103,924
71,317
(3,201)
(8,232)
–
163,808
–

The weighted average fair value of the PSU Awards granted during the financial year was $21.91 (2012: $20.89).

Restricted shares on issue at the beginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial year
Released during the financial year
Forfeited during the financial year
Restricted shares on issue at the end of the financial year
Restricted shares vested but not released at the end of the financial year

Number of
Restricted
Share Awards
2013

Number of
Restricted
Share Awards
2012

31,795
103,398
(55,106)
–
80,087
–

–
31,795
–
–
31,795
–

The weighted average fair value of the restricted shares granted during the financial year was $32.25 (2012: $26.70).
The awards are measured at their grant dates based on their fair value and for each PSU the number expected to vest.
This amount is recognised as an expense evenly over the respective vesting periods and the equity provided is treated
as a capital contribution.
For the year ended 31 March 2013, compensation expense relating to the MEREP totalled $138 million (2012:
$126 million).
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Note 27
Employee equity participation continued
Participation in the MEREP is currently provided to the following Eligible Employees:
–
–
–
–
–

Executive Directors with retained Directors’ Profit Share (DPS) from 2009 onwards, a proportion of which is allocated
in the form of MEREP awards (Retained DPS Awards);
Executive Directors with pre-2009 retained DPS (which they elected to transition into the MEREP);
staff other than Executive Directors with retained profit share (Retained Profit Share Awards) and staff who are
promoted to Associate Director, Division Director or Executive Director, who receive a fixed allocation of MEREP
awards (Promotion Awards);
new Macquarie Group staff who commence at Associate Director, Division Director or Executive Director level are
awarded a fixed number of MEREP awards depending on level (New Hire Awards); and
in limited circumstances, Macquarie staff who may receive an equity grant instead of a remuneration or consideration
payment in cash. Current examples include individuals who become employees of the Group on the acquisition of
their employer by a Macquarie Group entity or who receive an additional award at the time of joining Macquarie (also
referred to below as New Hire Awards).

Award type

Level

Vesting

Retained profit share awards and
Promotion awards

Below Executive Director

1/3rd on or after each 1 July, in the 2nd, 3rd and
4th year following the year of grant(1)

Retained DPS awards
representing 2009 retention

Executive Director

1/5th on or after each 1 July, in the 3rd, 4th, 5th,
6th and 7th year following the year of grant(2)

Retained DPS awards for 2010
and all future years’ retention

Designated Executive Director

1/5th on or after each 1 July in the 3rd, 4th, 5th,
6th and 7th year following the year of grant(2)

Retained DPS awards for 2010
and all future years’ retention

Non-Designated Executive Director

1/3rd on or after each 1 July in the 3rd, 4th and
5th year following the year of grant(1)

PSU awards granted in relation to
2012 and following years

Executive Committee members

50% on or after each 1 July, three and four years
after the year of grant(3)

PSU awards granted in relation to
2009, 2010 and 2011

Executive Committee members

1/3rd on or after each 1 July, two, three and four
years after the year of grant(3)

Pre-2009 DPS Transitioned into
the MEREP

Executive Committee members

1/7th each year from 1 July 2010 to
1 July 2016(2)

Pre-2009 DPS Transitioned into
the MEREP

Executive Directors (other than those
on the Executive Committee)

1/5th each year from 1 July 2010 to
1 July 2014(2)

New hire awards

All Director-level staff

1/3rd on each first day of a staff trading window
on or after the 2nd, 3rd and 4th anniversaries of
the date of allocation

(1)
(2)

Vesting will occur on the first day of a staff trading window following 1 July of the specified year.
Vesting will occur on the first day of a staff trading window following 1 July of the specified year. If an Executive
Director has been on leave without pay (excluding leave to which the Executive Director may be eligible under local
laws) for 12 months or more, the vesting period may be extended accordingly.
(3) Subject to achieving certain performance hurdles – refer below.
In limited cases, the Application Form for awards may set out a different vesting period, in which case that period will be
the vesting period for the Award.
For Retained Profit Share Awards representing 2012 retention, the allocation price was the volume weighted average
price of the Shares acquired for the 2012 Purchase Period, which was 7 May 2012 to 7 June 2012 (excluding the pricing
period for the Macquarie Group Dividend Reinvestment Plan from 17 May to 23 May 2012 inclusive). That price was
calculated to be $26.97 (2011 retention: $33.06)

49

Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

2013 Annual Report

macquarie.com.au

Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2013
continued

Note 27
Employee equity participation continued
Performance Share Units
PSUs will only be released or become exercisable upon the achievement of certain performance hurdles. Only members of the MGL
and MBL Executive Committees are eligible to receive PSUs. For the PSUs allocated to Executive Committee Members, two
performance hurdles have been determined and each will apply individually to 50 per cent of the total number of PSUs awarded.
These hurdles are set out below. The BRC periodically reviews the performance hurdles, including the reference group, and has the
discretion to change the performance hurdles in line with regulatory and remuneration trends. Any change will be disclosed in the
Consolidated Entity’s Annual Report.
The hurdles were changed during the year-ending 31 March 2013 for grants made from 1 April 2013 onwards. The new hurdles are
outlined below.

Performance hurdle 1
Reference group
Hurdle
50 per cent of the PSUs based solely
on the relative average annual return on
ordinary equity (ROE) over the vesting
period compared to a reference group.
A sliding scale applies with 50 per cent
becoming exercisable above the 50th
percentile and 100 per cent vesting at the
75th percentile

Granted after 31 March 2013

Granted on or before 31 March 2013

The current reference group comprises
Barclays, Bank of America, Credit Suisse,
Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs,
Jefferies, JP Morgan, Lazard, Morgan
Stanley and UBS.

The reference group comprises ANZ
Group, Commonwealth Bank, National
Australia Bank, Westpac, Suncorp, Bank
of America, Citigroup, Credit Suisse,
Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JP
Morgan, Morgan Stanley and UBS

Performance hurdle 2
Required result
Granted on or before 31 March 2013

Hurdle

Granted after 31 March 2013

50 per cent of the PSUs, based solely on
the compound annual growth rate
(CAGR) in earnings per share (EPS) over
the vesting period.

A sliding scale applies with 50 per cent
becoming exercisable at EPS CAGR of
7.5 per cent and 100 per cent at EPS
CAGR of 12.0 per cent. For example, if
EPS CAGR were 9.75 per cent, 75 per
cent of the Award would become
exercisable.

A sliding scale applies with 50 per cent
becoming exercisable at EPS CAGR of
9.0 per cent and 100 per cent at EPS
CAGR of 13.0 per cent. For example,
if EPS CAGR were 11 per cent, 75 per
cent of the Award would become
exercisable.

Under both performance hurdles, the objective is to be examined once only, effectively at the calendar quarter end immediately
before vesting. If the condition is not met when examined, the PSUs due to vest expire.

Other arrangements
There are certain arrangements with employees which take the form of a share-based payment but which are held outside the
MEREP. Employees do not have a legal or beneficial interest in the underlying shares; however the arrangements have the same
economic benefits as those held in the MEREP.
Compensation expense relating to these awards for the year ending 31 March 2013 was $1 million (2012: $1 million).
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Note 27
Employee equity participation continued
Option Plan
MGL has suspended new offers under the MGESOP under remuneration arrangements which were the subject of shareholder
approvals obtained at a General Meeting of MGL in December 2009. The last grant of Options under the MGESOP was on
8 December 2009. Currently MGL does not expect to issue any further Options under the MGESOP.
Options now on issue are all five year options over fully paid unissued ordinary shares in MGL and were granted to individuals or the
individual’s controlled company or an entity approved under the MGESOP to hold options. The options were issued for no
consideration and were granted at prevailing market prices.
At 31 March 2013 there were 557 (2012: 855) MFHL participants of the MGESOP.
The following is a summary of the movement in options granted pursuant to the MGESOP:

Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year
Forfeited during the financial year
Exercised during the financial year
Transfers from/(to) related body corporate entities
Lapsed during the financial year
Outstanding at the end of the financial year
Exercisable at the end of the financial year

Number of
options
2013

Weighted
average
exercise
price 2013
$

Number of
options
2012

Weighted
average
exercise
price 2012
$

10,424,129
(964,970)
(25,998)
(329,774)
(4,689,882)
4,413,505
4,361,483

60.00
50.79
28.32
54.70
69.50
52.50
52.62

16,061,537
(225,931)
(13,011)
28,080
(5,426,546)
10,424,129
8,268,267

60.50
43.69
26.95
50.06
62.62
60.00
62.00

For options exercised during the financial year the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $31.27 (2012: $32.60).
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the financial year was $17.10 to $63.09 (2012: $17.10 to $94.48).
The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 March 2013 is 0.41 years (2012: 1.02
years). The weighted average remaining contractual life when analysed by exercise price range is:
Number of
options
2012

Remaining
life (years)
2012

4,000
2,000
0.94
89,655
0.88
136,057
169,546
0.73
207,341
138,413
101,799
0.70
4,020,505
0.38
6,044,641
30,000
0.10
130,550
3,555,329
–
–
–
–
140,935
–
–
66,863
10,424,129
4,413,505
0.41
The above tables exclude options that are not exercisable due to the failure to meet performance hurdles.

1.94
1.83
1.75
1.66
1.36
0.91
0.39
0.23
0.17
1.02

Exercise price range ($)

Number of
options
2013

Remaining
life (years)
2013

10 – 20
20 – 30
30 – 40
40 – 50
50 – 60
60 – 70
70 – 80
80 – 90
90 – 100

There were no options issued in the financial year.
The number of outstanding options as at 30 May 2013 is 4,200,907.
The market value of shares issued during the year as a result of the exercise of these options was $812,937 (2012: $424,152).
The market value of shares which would be issued from the exercise of the outstanding options at 31 March 2013 was
$164 million (2012: $303 million). No unissued shares, other than those referred to above, are under option under the MGESOP as
at the date of this report.
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The options were measured at their grant dates based on their fair value and the number expected to vest. This amount
is recognised as an expense evenly over the respective vesting periods and the equity provided is treated as a capital
contribution.
Options granted vest in three equal tranches after the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of allocation of
the options. Subject to the MGESOP rules and MGL’s personal dealing policy, options can be exercised after the vesting
period during an options exercise period up to expiry. In individual cases, such as where an employee leaves with MGL’s
agreement towards the end of a vesting period, MGL’s Executive Committee has the power to waive the remainder of
any vesting period and allow exercise of some or all of the relevant options.
For options granted to the members of MGL’S Executive Committee, Executive Voting Directors and other Executive
Directors where the invitation to apply for the options was sent to the Executive on or after 30 June 2006, in respect of
each tranche of vested options, options will only be exercisable if MGL’s average annual return on ordinary equity for the
three previous financial years is above the 65th (Executive Committee and Executive Voting Directors) and 50th (other
Executive Directors) percentiles, of the corresponding figures for all companies in the then S&P/ASX 100 Index, with the
conditions to be examined only upon vesting. During the year the final tranches of these options failed to meet the
performance hurdles and consequently did not vest.
Fully paid ordinary shares issued on the exercise of options rank pari passu with all other fully paid MGL ordinary shares
then on issue.
The options do not confer any right to directly participate in any share issue or interest issue by MGL or any other body
corporate or scheme and carry no dividend or voting rights. The options include terms that provide for the adjustment of
the number of options, the exercise price and/or the number of shares to be issued on the exercise of options, in the
following circumstances:
-

an issue of new shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves;
an issue to holders of shares of rights (pro-rata with existing shareholdings) to subscribe for further shares;
a pro-rata bonus issue;
a subdivision, consolidation, cancellation or return of capital;
other reorganisations.

These terms are consistent with the ASX Listing Rules for the adjustment of options in these circumstances which are
intended to ensure that these types of transactions do not result in either a dilution of option holders’ interest or an
advantage to option holders which holders of ordinary shares do not receive.
For the year ended 31 March 2013, compensation expense relating to exchangeable shares, retention securities and
option plans totalled a credit of $10 million (2012: expense of $9 million).
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Note 27
Employee equity participation continued
Employee Share Plan
Following shareholder approval at the 1997 Annual
General Meeting, MBL introduced the Macquarie Bank
Employee Share Plan whereby each financial year, eligible
employees are offered up to $1,000 worth of fully paid
ordinary Company shares for no cash payment. MGL has
since introduced the Macquarie Group Employee Share
Plan (ESP) on the same terms.
Shares issued under the ESP cannot be sold until the
earlier of three years after issue or the time when the
participant is no longer employed by the Company or a
subsidiary of the Company. In all other respects, shares
issued rank equally with all other fully paid ordinary shares
then on issue.
The latest offer under the ESP was made during
November 2012. A total of 55 (2012: 41) staff participated
in this offer. On 3 December 2012, the participants were
each allocated 30 (2012: 41) fully paid ordinary shares
based on the offer amount of $1,000 and the then
calculated average market share price of $32.85
(2012: $23.81), a total of 1,650 (2012: 1,681) shares were
issued. The shares were issued for no cash consideration.
The aggregate value of the shares allocated was deducted
from staff profit share and commissions.
Historic Share Plans
Share are no longer being issued under the following plans
however employees still hold shares issued in previous
years.
Staff Share Acquisition Plan
Following shareholder approval at the 1999 Annual
General Meeting, MBL introduced the Macquarie Bank
Staff Share Acquisition Plan (MBSSAP) whereby each
financial year, Australian based Eligible Employees were
given the opportunity to nominate an amount of their pretax available profit share or future commission to purchase
fully paid ordinary Company shares on-market. This was
subsequently replaced by the Macquarie Group Staff
Share Acquisition Plan (MGSSAP) on the same terms. In
early 2010, MGL suspended new offers under the
MGSSAP following Australian taxation changes
implemented in late 2009 which would have significantly
limited the future participation in the plan. MGL does not
expect it will make any future allocations under the
MGSSAP.

or fail to do an act which brings the Company or a related
company into disrepute.
Shares held in the MGSSAP will be withdrawn on the
earlier of:
– an employee’s resignation from the Company or a
related entity;
– upon request by the employee (after the expiration of
the non-disposal period); and
– 10 years from the date that the shares are registered
in an employee’s name.
In all other respects, the shares rank equally with all other
fully paid ordinary shares then on issue.
Eligible Employees were Australian based permanent fulltime or part-time employees or fixed term contract
employees of the Company or a related company who
either received available profit share in the relevant year of
at least $1,000 in total or allocated at least $1,000 in
available commission towards the MGSSAP.
The Macquarie Bank Executive Director Share Acquisition
Plan (MBEDSAP) was a sub-plan of the MBSSAP which
was created in 2003 and was open to eligible Executive
Directors. The disposal and forfeiture restrictions in the
MBEDSAP differ from those in the MBSSAP. This was
subsequently replaced by the Macquarie Group Executive
Director Share Acquisition Plan (MGEDSAP) on the same
terms but no offers have been made under the plan.
In April 2008, a further sub-plan of the MGSSAP was
created, the Macquarie Group Executive Committee
Acquisition Plan, whereby members of MGL's Executive
Committee were required to contribute certain proportions
of their annual profit share to acquire MGL’s shares, which
must be held for at least three years. The first offers under
this sub-plan were made in May 2008.
No offers under the MGSSAP (including the Macquarie
Group Executive Committee Acquisition Plan) were made
during the year 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).

The total number of shares purchased under the MGSSAP
was limited in any financial year to 3 per cent of MGL’s
shares as at the beginning of that financial year.
Shares acquired under the MGSSAP cannot be sold,
transferred or disposed of for a period of six months
from the date that the shares are transferred into a
participating employee’s name except in special
circumstances if the employee resigns. The shares held in
the MGSSAP are also subject to forfeiture by an employee
in a number of circumstances including theft, fraud,
dishonesty, or defalcation in relation to the affairs of the
Company or a related company or if they carry out an act
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Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan
Following shareholder approval at the 1999 Annual General
Meeting, MBL also introduced the Macquarie Bank NonExecutive Director Share Acquisition Plan whereby each
financial year certain Australian based Non-Executive Directors
(NEDs) of the Macquarie Group of companies were given the
opportunity to contribute some or all of their future pre-tax
remuneration from the Macquarie Group to acquire Macquarie
Bank Limited shares. This was subsequently replaced by the
Macquarie Group Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition
Plan (NEDSAP) on the same terms. The Australian taxation
changes referred to above in respect of the MGSSAP also
apply to the NEDSAP. Accordingly, MGL has currently
suspended new offers under the NEDSAP and does not
expect to make any future allocations under the plan.
Previously, NEDs could elect to participate in the NEDSAP by
nominating a minimum of $1,000 of their NED remuneration
per buying period to go towards the NEDSAP. Participating
NEDs could also subsequently apply to reduce their previously
nominated contribution provided that the relevant buying
period has not commenced.
The shares were acquired at prevailing market prices.
Brokerage fees were applied to the NEDs’ account.
Shares acquired under the NEDSAP cannot be sold,
transferred or disposed of for a period of six months from the
date that the shares were transferred into a NED’s name
except in special circumstances if the NED resigns. The shares
held in the NEDSAP are also subject to forfeiture by a NED in a
number of circumstances including theft, fraud, dishonesty, or
defalcation in relation to the affairs of the Company or a related
company or if they carry out an act or fail to do an act which
brings the Company or a related company into disrepute.
Shares held in the NEDSAP will be withdrawn on the earlier of:
– the participant ceasing to be a NED of the Company;
– upon request by the NED (after the expiration of the nondisposal period); and
– 10 years from the date that the shares are registered in a
NED’s name.
In all other respects, shares rank equally with all other fully paid
ordinary shares then on issue.
Shares resulting from participation in the NEDSAP may count
towards meeting the minimum shareholding requirements of
NEDs.
No offers under the NEDSAP were made during the
year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).
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Other plans
The Consolidated Group operates other local share-based
compensation plans, none of which, individually or in
aggregate are material.

2013
$m

2012
$m

107

104

Note 28
28 Contingent liabilities and commitments
The following details of contingent liabilities and assets exclude derivatives.
Contingent liabilities exist in respect of:
Guarantees
Indemnities

18

–

125

104

Undrawn credit facilities

893

857

Forward asset purchases

832

926

Total commitments

1,725

1,783

Total contingent liabilities and commitments

1,850

1,887

Total contingent liabilities(1)
Commitments exist in respect of:

(2)

(1)

(2)

Contingent liabilities exist in respect of actual and potential claims and proceedings that arise in the conduct of the
Consolidated Entity’s business. A provision is recognised where some loss is probable and can be reliably estimated. The
Consolidated Entity is currently not engaged in any litigation or claim which is likely to have a material adverse effect on the
Consolidated Entity’s business, financial condition or performance.
Total commitments also represent contingent assets. Such commitments to provide credit may convert to loans and other
assets in the ordinary course of business.

Note 29
29 Lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases expiring:
Not later than one year

69

84

Later than one year and not later than five years

189

239

Later than five years

139

215

Total operating lease commitments

397

538

Operating leases relate to commercial buildings. The future lease commitments disclosed are net of any rental incentives
received.
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Note 30
30 Derivative financial instruments
Objectives of holding and issuing derivative financial instruments
The Consolidated Entity is an active price maker in derivatives on interest rates, foreign exchange, commodities and
equities. Its objective is to earn profits from the price making spread and from managing the residual exposures on
hedged positions. Proprietary position taking is a small part of the Consolidated Entity’s trading activities. Risks on
derivatives are managed together with all other trading positions in the same market. All trading positions, including
derivatives, are marked to fair value daily.
The Consolidated Entity also uses derivatives to hedge banking operations and for asset/liability management. Certain
derivative transactions may qualify as cash flow, fair value or net investment in foreign operations hedges, if they meet the
appropriate strict hedge criteria outlined in note 1(ix)–Summary of significant accounting policies:
Cash flow hedges: The Consolidated Entity is exposed to volatility in future interest cash flows arising from floating rate
issued debt used to fund fixed rate asset positions. The aggregate principal balances and interest cash flows across
these portfolios form the basis for identifying the non–trading interest rate risk of the Consolidated Entity, which is hedged
with interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps.
At 31 March 2013, the fair value of outstanding derivatives held by the Consolidated Entity and designated as cash flow
hedges was $nil (2012: $nil).
During the year the Consolidated Entity recognised $nil (2012: $nil) in the income statement due to hedge ineffectiveness
on cash flow hedges.
Fair value hedges: The Consolidated Entity’s fair value hedges consist of:
–
–

interest rate swaps used to hedge against changes in the fair value of fixed rate assets and liabilities as a result of
movements in benchmark interest rates; and
foreign exchange forward contracts used to hedge against changes in the fair value of foreign denominated equity
instruments as a result of movements in market foreign exchange rates.

As at 31 March 2013, the fair value of outstanding derivatives held by the Consolidated Entity and designated as fair
value hedges was $3 million negative value (2012: $nil).
During the year fair value gains on the hedging instruments of $3 million have been recognised (2012: $nil), offset by $3
million (2012: $nil) of gains on the hedged item.
Net investment in foreign operations hedges: The Consolidated Entity has designated derivatives as hedges of its net
investment for foreign exchange risk arising from its non–core foreign operations.
At 31 March 2013, the fair value of outstanding derivatives held by the Consolidated Entity and designated as net
investment in foreign operations hedges was $30 million negative value (2012: $2 million positive value). During the year
the Consolidated Entity recognised $1 million gains (2012: $2 million gains) in the income statement due to hedge
ineffectiveness on net investment hedges.
The types of derivatives which the Consolidated Entity trades and uses for hedging purposes are detailed below:
Futures: Futures contracts provide the holder with the obligation to buy a specified financial instrument or commodity at
a fixed price and fixed date in the future. Contracts may be closed early via cash settlement. Futures contracts are
exchange traded.
Forwards and forward rate agreements: Forward contracts, which resemble futures contracts, are an agreement
between two parties that a financial instrument or commodity will be traded at a fixed price and fixed date in the future. A
forward rate agreement provides for two parties to exchange interest rate differentials based on an underlying principal
amount at a fixed date in the future.
Swaps: Swap transactions provide for two parties to swap a series of cash flows in relation to an underlying principal
amount, usually to exchange a fixed interest rate for a floating interest rate. Cross–currency swaps provide a tool for two
parties to manage risk arising from movements in exchange rates.
Options: Option contracts provide the holder the right to buy or sell financial instruments or commodities at a fixed price
over an agreed period or on a fixed date. The contract does not oblige the holder to buy or sell, however the writer must
perform if the holder exercises the rights pertaining to the option.
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Note 31
31 Financial risk management
Risk Management Group
Risk is an integral part of the Consolidated Entity’s businesses. The main risks faced by the Consolidated Entity are
market risk, equity risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, legal risk and compliance risk. Responsibility for
management of these risks lies with the individual businesses giving rise to them. It is the responsibility of the Risk
Management Group (RMG) to ensure appropriate assessment and management of these risks.
RMG is independent of all other areas of the Consolidated Entity. The Head of RMG, as Macquarie’s Chief Risk Officer, is
a member of the Executive Committee of MGL and reports directly to the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
with a secondary reporting line to the Board Risk Committee. RMG authority is required for all material risk acceptance
decisions. RMG identifies, quantifies and assesses all material risks and sets prudential limits. Where appropriate, these
limits are approved by the Executive Committee and the Board.
The risks which the Consolidated Entity is exposed to are managed on a globally consolidated basis for MGL as a whole,
including all subsidiaries, in all locations. Macquarie’s internal approach to risk ensures that risks in subsidiaries are
subject to the same rigour and risk acceptance decisions (i.e. not differentiating where the risk is taken within Macquarie).
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Note 31.1
Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk of a counterparty failing to complete its contractual obligations when they fall due.
The credit risk exposures within the Consolidated Entity are managed on a Group basis by RMG.
Maximum exposure to credit risk
The table below details the concentration of credit exposure of the Consolidated Entity's assets to significant
geographical locations and counterparty types. The amounts shown represent the maximum credit risk of the
Consolidated Entity's assets.
Receivables
from financial
institutions
$m

Trading
portfolio assets
$m

Derivative
assets
$m

Australia
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Australia

–

–

–

25

–

9

–

–

30

25

–

39

Asia Pacific
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Asia Pacific

–

–

–

636

–

17

–

–

–

636

–

17

–

–

–

433

–

6

–

3

–

433

3

6

Europe, Middle East and Africa
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa
Americas
Governments

–

14

–

1,496

315

43

–

137

5

Total Americas

1,496

466

48

Total gross credit risk

2,590

469

110

Financial institutions
Other

The following provides detail around the active management of credit risk by the Consolidated Entity:
The Consolidated Entity enters into master netting agreements with certain counterparties to manage the credit risk
where it has trading derivatives in the Macquarie Securities Group and Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities.
Stock borrowing and reverse repurchase arrangements entered into by the Consolidated Entity with external
counterparties normally require collateral in excess of 100 per cent (which is consistent with industry practice). Other risk
mitigation measures include blocked deposits, bank guarantees and letters of credit.
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Debt
investment
Other financial
securities
Loan assets
assets at fair
available Other financial
held at value through
for sale
assets amortised cost
profit or loss
$m
$m
$m
$m

Due from
related
Credit
body commitments
corporate and contingent
entities
liabilities
$m
$m

Total
$m
2013

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

135
34

31
675

106
219

–
–

4,263
38

–
320

4,569
1,316

169

706

325

–

4,301

320

5,885

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

54

–

–

5

712

–

990

30

–

4

129

1,153

–

990

84

–

4

134

1,865

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

10

–

24

247

–

–

720

–

500

82

5

–

155

745

10

500

106

252

–

155

1,465

–

–

75

–

–

–

89

6

–

115

–

–

66

2,041

2

1,788

450

–

268

1,175

3,825

8

1,788

640

–

268

1,241

5,955

187

3,984

1,155

252

4,573

1,850

15,170
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Note 31.1
Credit risk continued
Maximum exposure to credit risk continued
Receivables
from financial
institutions
$m

Trading portfolio
assets
$m

Derivative assets
$m

Australia
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Australia
Asia Pacific
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Asia Pacific
Europe, Middle East and Africa
Governments
Financial institutions
Other
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa
Americas
Governments

–

–

–

36

–

14

–

–

33

36

–

47

–

–

–

889

9

20

–

–

1

889

9

21

–

–

–

585

–

7

–

4

–

585

4

7

–

12

–

1,647

192

46

–

68

5

Total Americas

1,647

272

51

Total gross credit risk

3,157

285

126

Financial institutions
Other

The following provides detail around the active management of credit risk by the Consolidated Entity:
The Consolidated Entity enters into master netting agreements with certain counterparties to manage the credit risk
where it has trading derivatives in the Macquarie Securities Group and Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities.
Stock borrowing and reverse repurchase arrangements entered into by the Consolidated Entity with external
counterparties normally require collateral in excess of 100 per cent (which is consistent with industry practice). Other risk
mitigation measures include blocked deposits, bank guarantees and letters of credit.
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Debt
investment
securities
available
for sale
$m

Other financial
assets
$m

Loan assets
held at
amortised cost
$m

Other financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
$m

Due from
related
body
corporate
entities
$m

Credit
commitments
and contingent
liabilities
$m

Total
$m
2012

–

1

–

–

–

–

1

98

33

6

–

1,741

–

1,928

33

631

199

–

239

193

1,328

131

665

205

–

1,980

193

3,257

–

32

–

–

–

–

32

–

–

133

–

–

–

1,051

–

2,007

–

–

13

98

2,119

–

2,039

133

–

13

98

3,202

–

13

–

–

–

–

13

7

–

14

630

–

–

1,243

4

1,170

46

–

108

254

1,586

11

1,183

60

630

108

254

2,842

–

35

32

–

–

–

79

8

–

157

–

–

120

2,170

11

2,511

535

–

30

1,222

4,382

19

2,546

724

–

30

1,342

6,631

161

6,433

1,122

630

2,131

1,887

15,932
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Note 31.1
Credit risk continued
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements
Securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements are fully collateralised with highly liquid securities as they
require collateral to be in excess of the loaned amount.
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financing provided to clients for investing had a carrying value at year end of $nil (2012: $441 million). This amount is fully
secured by the underlying securities investments or cash deposits of the investors.
Derivative financial instruments
Exchange traded derivatives contracts have limited credit risk as counterparties have to be members of the exchange
and demonstrate they have adequate resources to fulfil obligations when they become due. Members are required to
provide initial margins in accordance with the exchange rules in the form of cash or stock, and provide daily variation
margins usually in cash to cover changes in market values. Further, all members are generally required to contribute to
(and guarantee) the compensation or reserve fund which may be used in the event of default and shortfall of a member.
For Over The Counter (OTC) derivative contracts, the Company often has master netting agreements (usually ISDA
Master Agreements) with certain counterparties to manage the credit risk. Master netting arrangements are generally
insufficient to allow offset in the Statement of Financial Position. However, the credit risk associated with positive
replacement value contracts is reduced by master netting arrangements that in an event of default requires balances with
a particular counterparty covered by the agreement (e.g. derivatives and cash margins) to be terminated and settled on a
net basis. Macquarie also often executes a Credit Support Annex in conjunction with a master netting agreement, which
facilitates the transfer of margin between parties during the term of arrangements, to mitigate counterparty risk arising
from changes in market values of the derivatives.
Other assets
Brokerage receivables of $3,311 million (2012: $5,749 million) are included in Other assets, which represent amounts
owed by an exchange (or a client) for equities sold (or bought on behalf of a client). Macquarie holds the underlying equity
security as collateral until settled, which is usually less than 3 days after trade.
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Credit risk continued
Credit quality of financial assets
The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial asset (based upon ultimate risk counterparty) for credit
exposures, based on the Consolidated Entity’s credit rating system.
Credit quality – 2013
Neither past due nor impaired

Below
Investment Investment
Grade
Grade
$m
$m
Receivables from financial institutions

Default
$m

Past due or
individually
Unrated
impaired
$m
$m

Total
$m

2,541

49

–

–

–

Governments

14

–

–

–

–

14

Financial institutions

59

256

–

–

–

315

9

131

–

–

–

140

45

30

–

–

–

75

–

35

–

–

–

35

151

–

–

–

–

151

27

9

–

–

–

36

Trading portfolio assets

Other
Derivative assets
Financial institutions
Other

469

110

Debt investment securities available for sale
Financial institutions
Other

187

Other financial assets
Financial institutions

2,590

3,984
–

1

–

–

30

31

2,552

1,053

–

303

45

3,953

73

2

–

–

–

75

Financial institutions

113

183

3

–

–

299

Other

141

467

118

–

55

781

Other financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Financial institutions

159

88

–

–

–

247

–

5

–

–

–

5

Other
Loan assets held at amortised cost
Governments

Other

1,155

252

Due from related body corporate entities
Financial institutions

4,573
4,263

–

–

–

–

Other

–

–

–

310

–

4,263
310

Total

10,147

2,309

121

613

130

13,320

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more.
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Note 31.1
Credit risk continued
Credit quality of financial assets continued
The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial asset (based upon ultimate risk counterparty) for credit
exposures, based on the Consolidated Entity’s credit rating system.
Credit quality – 2012
Neither past due nor impaired

Below
Investment Investment
Grade
Grade
$m
$m
Receivables from financial institutions

3,034

123

Default
$m

Unrated
$m

Past due or
individually
impaired
$m

–

–

–

3,157
285

Trading portfolio assets
Governments

12

–

–

–

–

12

Financial institutions

35

166

–

–

–

201

4

68

–

–

–

72

Other

126

Derivative assets
Financial institutions
Other

53

34

–

–

–

–

39

–

–

–

Other

113

–

–

–

–

30

18

–

–

–

Financial institutions
Other

39
113
48
6,433

Other financial assets
Governments

87
161

Debt investment securities available for sale
Financial institutions

81

–

–

–

–

–

–

2,335

3,462

–

–

33

33

–

428

94

6,319

81

1,122

Loan assets held at amortised cost
31

1

–

–

–

32

Financial institutions

104

203

3

–

–

310

Other

281

456

–

–

43

780

Governments

Other financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Financial institutions

630
630

–

–

–

–

Financial institutions

630
2,131

Due from related body corporate entities
1,741

–

–

–

–

1,741

Other

–

–

–

390

–

390

Total

8,484

4,570

3

818

170

14,045

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more.
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Total
$m

Note 31.1
Credit risk continued
Ageing analysis of assets past due but not impaired and impaired assets
Past due but not impaired

Class of financial asset

Less than
30 days
$m

31 to
60 days
$m

61 to
90 days
$m

More
than
91 days
$m

Impaired
$m

Total
$m
2013

Other assets
Financial institutions
Other

30

–

–

–

–

30

26

7

4

–

8

45

Other

–

–

–

–

55

55

Total

56

7

4

–

63

130

Loan assets held at amortised cost
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Note 31.1
Credit risk continued
Credit quality of financial assets continued
Past due but not impaired

Class of financial asset

Less than
30 days
$m

31 to
60 days
$m

61 to
90 days
$m

More
than
91 days
$m

Impaired
$m

Total
$m
2012

Other assets
Financial institutions

32

1

–

–

–

33

Other

55

24

8

–

7

94

Loan assets held at amortised cost
Other

–

–

–

–

43

43

Total

87

25

8

–

50

170

A facility is considered to be past due when a contractual payment falls overdue by one or more days. When a facility is
classified as past due, the entire facility balance is disclosed in the past due analysis.
The factors taken into consideration by the Consolidated Entity when determining whether an asset is impaired are set
out in note 1(xi) – Summary of significant accounting policies.
Of the collateral held against past due and impaired balances for loan assets held at amortised cost, $nil (2012: $nil)
relates to collateral held against past due balances on leased assets.
The collateral held against past due and impaired balances for other assets represents equity securities held as security
against failed trade settlements.
Repossessed collateral
During the year the Consolidated Entity took possession of property assets with a carrying value of $nil (2012: $nil).
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Note 31.2
Liquidity risk
The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk management framework ensures that it is able to meet its funding requirements as
they fall due under a range of market conditions.
Liquidity management is performed centrally by Group Treasury, with oversight from the Asset and Liability Committee,
the MGL Board and RMG. The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity policies are approved by the Board after endorsement by
the Asset and Liability Committee. The Asset and Liability Committee includes the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Treasurer and Operating Group Heads.
Contractual undiscounted cash flows
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Consolidated Entity’s financial liabilities as at 31 March based on
contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were
given immediately.
Derivatives (other than those designated in a hedging relationship) and trading portfolio liabilities are included in the ‘less
than 3 months’ column at their fair value. Liquidity risk on these items is not managed on the basis of contractual
maturity, since they are not held for settlement according to such maturity and will frequently be settled in the short term
at fair value. Derivatives designated in a hedging relationship are included according to their contractual maturity.
On
demand
$m

Less than
3 months
$m

3 to
12 months
$m

1 to
5 years
$m

More than
5 years
$m

Total
$m
2013

Trading portfolio liabilities

–

113

–

–

–

113

Derivative liabilities (trading)

–

88

–

–

–

88

–

760

148

29

–

937
(874)

Derivative liabilities (hedging
relationship)
Contractual amounts payable
Contractual amounts receivable
Deposits
Other liabilities(1)
Payables to financial institutions
Other financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
Due to related body corporate entities

–

(734)

(134)

(6)

–

24

69

4

–

–

97

–

4,202

–

–

–

4,202

130

111

150

119

21

531

–

460

173

187

–

820

36

207

246

5,265

2,912

8,666

Debt issued at amortised cost

–

18

58

589

2,198

2,863

Macquarie Convertible Preference
Securities

–

633

–

–

–

633

Subordinated debt

–

16

16

455

–

487

190

5,943

661

6,638

5,131

18,563

Total undiscounted cash flows
Contingent liabilities

–

125

–

–

–

125

Commitments

–

1,703

22

–

–

1,725

Total undiscounted contingent
liabilities and commitments(2)

–

1,828

22

–

–

1,850

(1)
(2)

Excludes items that are not financial instruments and non-contractual accruals and provisions.
Cash flows on contingent liabilities and commitments are dependent on the occurrence of various future events and conditions,
and may or may not result in an outflow of resources. These are reported in the ‘less than 3 months’ column unless the
contractual terms specify a longer dated cash flow.
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Note 31.2
Contractual undiscounted cash flows continued
On
demand
$m

Less than
3 months
$m

3 to
12 months
$m

1 to
5 years
$m

More than
5 years
$m

Total
$m
2012

Trading portfolio liabilities

–

108

–

–

–

108

Derivative liabilities (trading)

–

120

–

–

–

120

Derivative liabilities (hedging
relationship)
Contractual amounts payable

–

344

36

–

–

380

Contractual amounts receivable

–

(246)

(33)

–

–

(279)

2

104

–

–

–

106

Deposits
(1)

Other liabilities

Payables to financial institutions
Other financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

6,040

–

–

–

6,040

101

162

53

23

398

1

264

501

356

–

1,122

Due to related body corporate
entities

(817)

313

2,348

3,555

3,594

8,993

Debt issued at amortised cost

–

–

–

48

–

48

Macquarie Convertible Preference
Securities

–

33

33

633

–

699

Subordinated debt

–

17

17

492

–

526

(755)

7,198

3,064

5,137

3,617

18,261

Contingent liabilities

–

104

–

–

–

104

Commitments

–

1,783

–

–

–

1,783

Total undiscounted contingent
liabilities and commitments(2)

–

1,887

–

–

–

1,887

Total undiscounted cash flows

(1)
(2)

68

–
59

Excludes items that are not financial instruments and non-contractual accruals and provisions.
Cash flows on contingent liabilities and commitments are dependent on the occurrence of various future events and conditions,
and may or may not result in an outflow of resources. These are reported in the ‘less than 3 months’ column unless the
contractual terms specify a longer dated cash flow.

Note 31.3
Market risk
Market risk is the exposure to adverse changes in the value of the Consolidated Entity’s trading portfolios as a result of
changes in market prices or volatility. The Consolidated Entity is exposed to the following risks in each of the major
markets in which it trades:
– foreign exchange and bullion: changes in spot and forward exchange rates and bullion prices and the volatility of
exchange rates and bullion prices;
– interest rates and debt securities: changes in the level, shape and volatility of yield curves, the basis between
different interest rate securities and derivatives and credit margins;
– equities: changes in the price and volatility of individual equities, equity baskets and equity indices, including the risks
arising from equity underwriting activity;
– commodities and energy: changes in the price and volatility of base metals, agricultural commodities and energy
products;
and to the correlation of market prices and rates within and across markets.
The Company is not exposed to any material market risk.
Value-at-Risk (VaR) figures (1-day, 99 per cent confidence level)
The table below shows the average, maximum and minimum VaR over the year for the major markets in which the
Consolidated Entity operates. The VaR shown in the table is based on a one-day holding period. The aggregated VaR is
on a correlated basis.
2013
Average
$m

2013
Maximum
$m

2013
Minimum
$m

2012
Average
$m

2012
Maximum
$m

2012
Minimum
$m

Equities

0.81

2.06

0.58

1.83

4.15

0.75

Interest rates

5.44

7.42

3.86

0.56

3.49

0.17

Foreign exchange and bullion

0.31

1.89

0.04

1.30

6.47

0.12

Commodities

0.07

0.35

–

0.01

1.12

–

Aggregate

5.38

7.37

4.07

2.56

5.99

0.87

Value-at-Risk
The VaR model uses a Monte Carlo simulation to generate normally distributed price and volatility paths, based on three
years of historical data. VaR focuses on unexceptional price moves so that it does not account for losses that could
occur beyond the 99 per cent level of confidence. These factors can limit the effectiveness of VaR in predicting future
price moves when changes to future risk factors deviate from the movements expected by the above assumptions. For
capital adequacy purposes, debt-specific risk is measured using APRA’s standard method, whilst all other exposures are
captured by the VAR model. This combined approach has been approved by APRA and is subject to periodic review.

Interest rate risk
The Consolidated Entity also has exposure to non-traded interest rate risk generated by banking products such as loans
and deposits. Banking businesses have small limits to accumulate small levels of interest rate risk. Wherever possible,
these interest rate risks are transferred into the trading books of FICC and Group Treasury and managed within traded
market risk limits and are included within the VaR figures presented above. Some residual interest rate risks remain in the
banking book. These residual risks have independent limits that are monitored by RMG.
These residual interest rate risks are not material to the Consolidated Entity.
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Note 31.3
Market risk continued
Foreign currency risk
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from transactions entered into in its normal course of
business and as a result of the Consolidated Entity’s investments in foreign operations. Movements in foreign currency
exchange rates will result in gains or losses in the income statement due to the revaluation of certain balances or in
movements in the foreign currency translation reserve due to the revaluation of foreign operations.
In order to manage this risk, the Consolidated Entity has a policy that non-trading foreign currency exposures are
appropriately hedged unless specifically approved by RMG, and trading foreign currency exposures remain within trading
limits set by RMG.
Forward foreign exchange contracts, or borrowings in the same currency as the exposure, are designated as hedges
under Australian accounting standards and offset movements on the net assets within foreign operations and are
transferred to the foreign currency translation reserve.
Responsibility for monitoring and managing foreign currency exposures arising from transactions rests with individual
businesses which will enter into internal transactions as necessary to transfer the underlying foreign exchange risk to our
trading businesses. Any residual foreign exchange risk residing in non-trading divisions is included in the internal model
capital calculation by RMG, with the exception of specific investments in core foreign operations as discussed below.
The hedging policy of the group is designed to reduce the sensitivity of the group’s regulatory capital position to foreign
currency movements. This is achieved by leaving specific investments in core foreign operations exposed to foreign
currency translation movements. The resultant change in the Australian dollar value of the foreign investment is captured
in the foreign currency translation reserve, a component of regulatory capital. This offsets the corresponding movement
in the capital requirements of these investments.
As a result of the Consolidated Entity’s foreign exchange policy, the Consolidated Entity is partially exposed to currency
risk in relation to the translation of its net investment in foreign operations to Australian dollars.
The table below indicates the sensitivity to movements in the Australian dollar rate against various foreign currencies at
31 March. The Consolidated Entity is active in various currencies globally – those with the most impact on the sensitivity
analysis below are USD, GBP, HKD and CAD.

2012

2013
Sensitivity of
equity after tax
$m

Australian dollar

+10

(48.3)

+10

(38.1)

Australian dollar

-10

59.0

-10

46.6

Geographic region
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Movement in Sensitivity of equity
exchange price
after tax
%
$m

Movement in
exchange price
%

Note 31.3
Market risk continued
Equity price risk
The table below indicates the equity markets to which the Consolidated Entity had significant exposure at 31 March on
its non-trading investment portfolio excluding interests in associates and joint ventures. The effect on equity (as a result of
a change in the fair value of equity instruments held as available for sale at 31 March) and the income statement due to a
reasonably possible change in equity prices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

2012

2013
Movement in
equity price
%

Sensitivity of
equity after tax
$m

Movement in
equity price
%

Sensitivity of
equity after tax
$m

Australia

+10

109.0

+10

90.8

Asia Pacific

+10

1.2

+10

0.9

Europe, Middle East and Africa

+10

0.3

+10

–

Americas

+10

29.8

+10

3.0

Unlisted

+10

45.7

+10

34.2

Australia

–10

(109.0)

-10

(90.8)

Asia Pacific

–10

(1.2)

-10

(0.9)

Europe, Middle East and Africa

–10

(0.3)

-10

–

Americas

–10

(29.8)

-10

(3.0)

Unlisted

–10

(45.7)

-10

(34.2)

Geographic region
Listed

Listed
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Note 32
32 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value reflects the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Quoted
prices or rates are used to determine fair value where an
active market exists. If the market for a financial instrument
is not active, fair values are estimated using present value
or other valuation techniques, using inputs based on
market conditions prevailing on the measurement date.
The values derived from applying these techniques are
affected by the choice of valuation model used and the
underlying assumptions made regarding inputs such as
timing and amounts of future cash flows, discount rates,
credit risk, volatility and correlation.
Financial instruments measured at fair value are
categorised in their entirety, in accordance with the levels
of the fair value hierarchy as outlined below:
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
The appropriate level for an instrument is determined on
the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.
The following methods and significant assumptions have
been applied in determining the fair values of financial
instruments:
– trading portfolio assets and liabilities, financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
derivative financial instruments, and other transactions
undertaken for trading purposes are measured at fair
value by reference to quoted market prices when
available (e.g. listed securities). If quoted market prices
are not available, then fair values are estimated on the
basis of pricing models or other recognised valuation
techniques;
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– investment securities classified as available for sale are
measured at fair value by reference to quoted market
prices when available (e.g. listed securities). If quoted
market prices are not available, then fair values are
estimated on the basis of pricing models or other
recognised valuation techniques. Unrealised gains and
losses, excluding impairment write-downs, are recorded
in the available for sale Reserve in equity until the asset
is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of;
– fair values of fixed rate loans and issued debt classified
as at fair value through profit or loss is estimated by
reference to current market rates offered on similar
loans; and
– for financial instruments carried at fair value the
determination of fair value includes credit risk (i.e. the
premium over the basic interest rate). Counterparty
credit risk inherent in these instruments is factored
into their valuations via credit valuation adjustments
(CVA). This amount represents the estimated market
value of protection required to hedge credit risk from
counterparties, taking into account expected future
exposures, collateral, and netting arrangements. CVA is
determined when the market price (or parameter) is not
indicative of the credit quality of the specific
counterparty. Where financial instruments are valued
using an internal model that utilise observable market
parameters, market practice is to quote parameters
equivalent to an interbank credit rating (that is, all
counterparties are assumed to have the same credit
quality). Consequently, a CVA calculation is necessary
to reflect the credit quality of each derivative
counterparty to arrive at fair value.

Note 32
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
continued
Where valuation techniques are used to determine fair
values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by
qualified personnel independent of the area that created
them. All models are certified before they are used, and
models are calibrated periodically to test that outputs
reflect prices from observable current market transactions
in the same instrument or other available observable
market data. To the extent possible, models use only
observable market data (e.g. for over-the-counter
derivatives), however management is required to make
assumptions for certain inputs that are not supported by
prices from observable current market transactions in the
same instrument, such as credit risk, volatility and
correlation.

– the fair value of fixed rate loans is estimated by
reference to current market rates offered on similar
loans and the credit worthiness of the borrower;
– the fair value of debt issued and subordinated debt is
based on market prices where available. Where market
prices are not available the fair value is based on
discounted cash flows using rates appropriate to the
term and issue and incorporates changes in the
Consolidated Entity’s own credit spread;
– substantially all of the Consolidated Entity’s
commitments to extend credit are at variable rates.
As such, there is no significant exposure to fair value
fluctuations resulting from interest rate movements
relating to these commitments; and
– the fair values of balances due from or to related body
corporate entities (in the consolidated financial
statements) are approximated by their carrying amount.

The following methods and significant assumptions have
been applied in determining the fair values of financial
instruments which are carried at amortised cost:
– the fair values of liquid assets and other instruments
maturing within three months approximate their carrying
amounts. This assumption is applied to liquid assets
and the short-term elements of all other financial assets
and financial liabilities;
– the fair value of demand deposits with no fixed maturity
is approximately their carrying amount as they are short
term in nature or are payable on demand;
– the fair values of variable rate financial instruments,
including loan assets and liabilities carried at amortised
cost, cash collateral on securities borrowed/cash
collateral on securities lent and reverse repurchase or
repurchase agreements, are approximated by their
carrying amounts. The fair value of loan assets
repayable without penalty is approximated by their
carrying value;
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Note 32
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
The table below summarises the carrying value and fair value of financial assets and liabilities held at amortised cost of
the Consolidated Entity at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012:
2013
Carrying
value

2013
Fair
value

2012
Carrying
value

2012
Fair
value

$m

$m

$m

$m

Receivables from financial institutions

2,590

2,590

3,157

3,157

Other financial assets

3,984

3,984

6,433

6,433

Loan assets held at amortised cost

1,155

1,183

1,122

1,136

Assets

Due from related body corporate entities

4,573

4,573

2,131

2,131

12,302

12,330

12,843

12,857

97

97

104

104

4,202

4,202

6,040

6,040

524

524

374

374

Due to related body corporate entities

6,664

6,664

7,003

7,003

Debt issued at amortised cost

1,779

1,842

39

39

Loan capital at amortised cost

1,018

1,065

1,022

1,002

14,284

14,394

14,582

14,562

Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits
Other financial liabilities
Payables to financial institutions

Total liabilities
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Note 32
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
The following tables summarise the levels of the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value of the
Consolidated Entity:
Level 1
$m

Level 2
$m

Level 3
$m

2013

Assets
Trading portfolio assets
Derivative assets
Investment securities available for sale
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Total assets

Total
$m

392

364

68

9

91

10

824
110

2,048

389

476

2,913

–

254

–

254

2,449

1,098

554

4,101

Liabilities
Trading portfolio liabilities

26

87

–

113

Derivative liabilities

–

127

1

128

Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

–

806

–

806

26

1,020

1

1,047

Total liabilities

2012

Assets
Trading portfolio assets
Derivative assets
Investment securities available for sale
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Total assets

360

273

–

633

2

115

9

126

1,348

307

369

2,024

–

630

–

630

1,710

1,325

378

3,413

108

Liabilities
Trading portfolio liabilities

62

46

–

Derivative liabilities

–

125

–

125

Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

–

1,081

–

1,081

62

1,252

–

1,314

Total liabilities
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Note 32
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
The following table reconciles the balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the Consolidated Entity for the
financial year ended 31 March 2013:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Purchases
Sales
Settlements
Net transfers into/(out of) Level 3
Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in the income
statement(1)
Fair value gains recognised in other comprehensive
income(1)
Balance at the end of the financial year
Fair value gains/(losses) for the financial year included in
the income statement for assets and liabilities held at the
end of the financial year (1)
(1)

(2)
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Trading
portfolio
assets

Investment
securities
available for
sale

Derivative
financial
instruments
(net
replacement
values)(2)

$m

$m

$m

$m

Total

–

369

9

378

73

167

1

241

(20)

(58)

–

(78)

–

–

–

–

11

–

(1)

10

4

(6)

–

(2)

–

4

–

4

68

476

9

553

4

(5)

3

2

The Consolidated Entity employs various economic hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3
positions. Such techniques may include the purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified in Levels 1 and/or 2.
The realised and unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 presented in the table above do not reflect the
related realised or unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Levels 1 and/or 2.
The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis, derivative financial
assets are $10 million (2012: $9 million) and derivative liabilities are $1 million (2012: $nil).

Note 32
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
The following table reconciles the balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the Consolidated Entity for the
financial year ended 31 March 2012:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Purchases
Sales
Settlements
Net transfers (out of)/into Level 3
Fair value gains recognised in the income statement(1)
Balance at the end of the financial year
Fair value (losses)/gains for the financial year included in the income
statement for assets and liabilities held at the end of the financial year
end(1)
(1)

(2)

Investment
securities
available for
sale
$m

Derivative
financial
instruments
(net
replacement
values)(2)
$m

Total
$m

224
153
(2)
(6)
(1)
1
369

(7)
6
–
–
8
2
9

217
159
(2)
(6)
7
3
378

(7)

3

(4)

The Consolidated Entity employs various economic hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3
positions. Such techniques may include the purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified in Levels 1 and/or 2.
The realised and unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 presented in the table above do not reflect the
related realised or unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Levels 1 and/or 2.
The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis, derivative financial
instruments – positive values are $9 million (2011: $1 million) and derivative financial instruments – negative values are
$nil (2011: $8 million).
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Note 32
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued
Significant transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy
During the financial year the Consolidated Entity did not have significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2. Transfers
into level 3 were due to the lack of observable valuation inputs for certain securities and investments. Transfers out of
level 3 were principally due to valuation inputs becoming observable during the year.
Unrecognised gains
For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, when the transaction price in a
non-active market is different to the fair market value from other observable current market conditions in the same
instrument or based on valuation technique whose variables include other data from observable markets, the
Consolidated Entity recognises the difference between the transaction price and the fair value in the income statement. In
cases where use is made of data which is not observable, profit or loss is only recognised in the income statement when
the inputs become observable, or over the life of the instrument.
The table below summarises the deferral and recognition of profit or loss where a valuation technique has been applied
for which not all inputs are observable in the market:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Deferral on new transactions
Amounts recognised in the income statement during the financial year
Balance at the end of the financial year

2013
$m

2012
$m

8
4
(3)
9

2
11
(5)
8

Sensitivity analysis of valuations using unobservable inputs
The table below shows the sensitivity in changing assumptions to reasonably possible alternative assumptions, for those
financial instruments for which fair values are determined in whole or in part using valuation techniques such as
discounted cashflows, which are based on assumptions that have been determined by reference to historical company
and industry experience.
Favourable changes

Product type
Equity and equity linked products
Credit Products
Total
Product type
Equity and equity linked products
Total
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Unfavourable changes

Profit or
loss
$m

Equity
$m

Profit or
loss
$m

3
1
4

58
–
58

(3)
(1)
(4)

2
2

45
45

(2)
(2)

Equity
$m
2013
(39)
–
(39)
2012
(23)
(23)

Note 33
33 Transfer of financial assets

Repurchase and securities lending agreements

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised
The Consolidated Entity may enter into transactions in the
normal course of business that transfer financial assets to
other entities. When the financial assets are derecognised,
some continuing involvement may be retained in the
assets through liquidity support, financial guarantees or
certain derivatives. There were no material transfers of
financial assets where the Consolidated Entity retained
continuing involvement.

Securities sold under agreement to repurchase and
securities subject to lending agreements continue to be
recognised on the statement of financial position and an
associated liability is recognised for the consideration
received. In certain arrangements, the securities
transferred cannot otherwise be pledged or sold, however
the assets may be substituted if the required collateral is
maintained.

Transferred financial assets that are not
Derecognised
When financial assets are transferred but not
derecognised, this is due to retaining exposure to
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
transferred assets through repurchase and securities
lending agreements or asset swaps.

Financial assets sold, while concurrently entering into an
asset swap with the counterparty, continue to be
recognised along with an associated liability for the
consideration received. The Consolidated Entity does not
have legal right to these assets but has full economic
exposure to them. The transferred assets cannot
otherwise be pledged or sold.

Asset swaps
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Note 33
Transfers of financial assets continued
The following table presents information about transfers of financial assets not derecognised by the Consolidated Entity
as at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012:

Repurchase and
securities lending
agreements Asset swaps
$m
$m

Carrying amount of transferred assets(1)
Carrying amount of associated liabilities
For those liabilities that have recourse only to the
transferred assets:
Fair value of transferred assets
Fair value of associated liabilities
Net fair value

209
(131)

2013
102
(102)

–
–
–

102
(102)
–

Carrying amount of transferred assets(1)
Carrying amount of associated liabilities
For those liabilities that have recourse only to the
transferred assets:
Fair value of transferred assets
Fair value of associated liabilities
Net fair value

–
–

2012
75
(75)

–
–
–

76
(76)
–

(1)
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The transferred financial assets are presented in Trading portfolio assets $209 million (2012: $nil) and Loan assets held at
amortised cost $102 million (2012: $75 million) in the statement of financial position.

Note 34
34 Audit and other services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers
During the financial year, the auditor of the Company and Consolidated Entity, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), and its
related practices earned the following remuneration:

PwC Australia
Audit and review of financial reports of the Company or any entity in the Consolidated
Entity
Other audit-related work

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2,145

899

64

53

Other assurance services

1,144

511

Total audit and other assurance services
Other advisory services

3,353

1,463

13

111

Taxation

300

354

Total remuneration paid to PwC Australia

3,666

1,928

Network firms of PwC Australia
Audit and review of financial reports of the Company or any entity in the
Consolidated Entity

4,263

4,749

182

4

Other audit-related work
Other assurance services
Total audit and other assurance services
Other advisory services

142

98

4,587

4,851

–

10

673

875

Total remuneration paid to network firms of PwC Australia

5,260

5,736

Total remuneration paid to PwC (Note 2)

8,926

7,664

Taxation

Use of PwC’s services for engagements other than audit and assurance is restricted in accordance with the Company’s
Auditor Independence policy. These assignments are principally tax compliance and agreed upon assurance procedures
in relation to acquisitions.
Certain fees for advisory services are in relation to Initial Public Offerings and due diligence services for new funds. These
fees may be recovered by the Consolidated Entity upon the successful establishment of the funds.
It is the Company’s policy to seek competitive tenders for all major advisory projects.
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Note 35

35 Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses
Significant entities and businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control:
There were no significant entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control during the financial
year.
Other entities acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control during the financial year are as follows:
Tulare I PV LLC, Macquarie International Housing and Land Consulting (Shanghai) Company Limited, Macquarie
Agricultural Funds Management Limited, Macquarie Crop Partners GP LLC, Macquarie Farm Services Limited,
Macquarie Servicos Agricolas Limitada and Melro HoldCo Pty Limited.
Aggregate details of the above entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control are as
follows:
2013
$m

2012
$m

Cash and other assets

51

24

Other financial assets

41

95

6

54

Fair value of net assets acquired(1)

Goodwill and other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Payables, provisions, borrowings and other liabilities
Non-controlling interest
Total fair value of net assets acquired

12

–

(68)

(94)

–

(2)

42

77

42

48

Consideration
Cash consideration
Deferred consideration

–

2

Fair value of previously held interest

–

27

42

77

(42)

(47)

Total consideration
Net cash flow
Cash consideration
Less:
Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Net cash outflow
(1)

16

27

(26)

(20)

In relation to the acquisition of certain subsidiaries from the Banking Group, assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at
carrying amounts. In accordance with the Consolidated Entity's accounting policy, the difference between the fair value of the
consideration given over the carrying amounts recognised is recorded directly in reserves. For the year ended 31 March 2013,
$nil (year ended 31 March 2012: $3 million) was recognised in Reserves arising from group restructure of combining entities
under common control.

The operating results of the acquisitions have not had a material impact on the results of the Consolidated Entity. There
are no significant differences between the fair value of net assets acquired and their carrying amounts, other than
goodwill and other intangible assets as noted above.
There are no significant differences between the fair value of net assets acquired and their carrying amounts. The
goodwill acquired during the current financial year has arisen due to the value of the businesses acquired over their
individual asset values and synergies the Consolidated Entity expects to realise from the acquisitions.
There were no significant entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control in the
31 March 2012 comparatives.
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Note 35
Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses continued
Significant entities and businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to loss of control:
There were no significant entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to loss of control during the financial
year.
Other entities disposed of or deconsolidated during the period are as follows:
American Water Heater Rentals.
Aggregate details of the above entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated are as follows:
2013
$m

2012
$m

Cash and other assets

29

211

Other financial assets

2

167

Carrying value of assets and liabilities disposed of or deconsolidated

Goodwill and other intangible assets

44

37

Property, plant and equipment

23

2,135

(89)

(2,053)

9

497

Cash consideration

–

512

Total consideration

–

512

–

512

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of or deconsolidated

(8)

(211)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow

(8)

301

Payables, provisions, borrowings and other liabilities
Total carrying value of assets and liabilities disposed of or deconsolidated
Consideration

Net cash flow
Cash consideration
Less:

The 31 March 2012 comparatives relate principally to Macquarie AirFinance Limited, being the significant entity disposed
of.
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2013
$m

2012
$m

Current assets

6,029

8,204

Non-current assets

6,370

4,950

12,399

13,154

Current liabilities

3,423

4,655

Non-current liabilities

6,673

5,536

10,096

10,191

15,046

15,426

(2)

(2)

(12,741)

(12,461)

2,303

2,963

Loss after income tax for the financial year

(280)

(175)

Total comprehensive expense for the financial year

(280)

(175)

2,224

2,169

Indemnities

18

19

Letters of Credit

10

–

2,252

2,188

Note 36
36 Company financial information
Statement of financial position
Assets

Total assets
Liabilities

Total liabilities
Equity
Contributed equity
Foreign currency translation reserve
Accumulated losses
Total equity
Statement of comprehensive income

Contingent liabilities
The following details of contingent liabilities exclude derivatives.
Contingent liabilities exist in respect of:
Guarantees(1)

Total contingent liabilities
(1)
(2)

(2)

Guarantees issued by the Company are over subsidiaries of the Consolidated Entity.
Contingent liabilities exist in respect of actual and potential claims and proceedings that arise in the conduct of the Company’s
business. A provision is recognised where some loss is probable and can be reliably estimated. The Company is currently not
engaged in any litigation or claim which is likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition or performance.

.

Note 37
37 Events after the reporting date
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors have approved the payment of a dividend. The aggregate amount of the
proposed dividend expected to be paid on 3 June 2013 from the retained profits at 31 March 2013, but not recognised
as a liability at the end of the financial year, is $400 million (2012: $nil).
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Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited
Directors’ declaration

Directors ’ d ecl aration

In the Directors’ opinion
(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 5
to 84 are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth), including:
(i)

complying with the accounting standards; and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated
Entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2013 and
of its performance, as represented by the results
of its operations and its cash flows, for the
financial year ended on that date; and
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that
Consolidated Entity will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable; and
(c) the financial statements also comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards (See note 1(i) set out on
page 12.
The Directors have been given the declarations by the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required
by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of
the Directors.

Robert Upfold
Director
Sydney
30 May 2013

85

Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

2013 Annual Report

macquarie.com.au

Independent audit report
to the members of Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited

Indep endent audit report

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of
Macquarie Financial Holdings Limited (the Company),
which comprises the statement of financial position as at
31 March 2013, and the income statement, the statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that
date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other
explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for the
Macquarie Financial Holdings group (the Consolidated
Entity). The Consolidated Entity comprises the Company
and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time
to time during the financial year.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of the financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In
Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial statements comply with

International Financial Reporting Standards.

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial report in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial report.
Our procedures include reading the other information in
the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any
material inconsistencies with the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001
(Cth).
Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These
Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial report is free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error.

the financial report of Macquarie Financial Holdings
Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth), including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated
Entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2013
and of its performance for the year ended on that
date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards
(including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations
2001; and

(b)

the financial report and notes also comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 1.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

DH Armstrong
Partner
Sydney
30 May 2013
Liability is limited by scheme approved under Professional
Standards Legislation.
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